
 

 

Agenda for a meeting of the Children's Services 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be held on 
Wednesday, 7 February 2024 at 4.30 pm in Committee 
Room 1 - City Hall, Bradford 
 
Members of the Committee – Councillors 
 
LABOUR 
 

CONSERVATIVE LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT  

BRADFORD 
INDEPENDENT 
GROUP 

Fricker 
Mohammed 
Regan 
Thirkill 
Zaman 
 

Davies 
Pollard 
 

Sunderland Sajawal 

 
Alternates: 
 
LABOUR 
 

CONSERVATIVE  LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT  

BRADFORD 
INDEPENDENT 
GROUP 

Alipoor 
Berry 
Humphreys 
I Hussain 
Walsh 

Birch 
Felstead 

Naylor Elahi 

 
VOTING CO-OPTED MEMBERS:  
 
Church Representative:  
Joyce Simpson  
 
Parent Governor Representatives: 
Fauzia Raza  
Parent Governor Representatives:  
Shifa Simab  
 
NON-VOTING CO-OPTED MEMBERS:  
 
Teacher Secondary School Representative:  
Tom Bright  
 
Children’s Social Care:  
Dr Samina Karim 
 
Notes: 

Public Document Pack



 

 

• This agenda can be made available in Braille, large print or tape format on request by 
contacting the Agenda contact shown below. 

• The taking of photographs, filming and sound recording of the meeting is allowed 
except if Councillors vote to exclude the public to discuss confidential matters covered 
by Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. Recording activity should be 
respectful to the conduct of the meeting and behaviour that disrupts the meeting 
(such as oral commentary) will not be permitted. Anyone attending the meeting 
who wishes to record or film the meeting's proceedings is advised to liaise with 
the Agenda Contact who will provide guidance and ensure that any necessary 
arrangements are in place. Those present who are invited to make spoken 
contributions to the meeting should be aware that they may be filmed or sound 
recorded. 

• Members of the public are respectfully reminded that this is a meeting that is 
being held in public NOT a public meeting. The attendance of the public to 
observe the proceedings is welcome. 

• If any further information is required about any item on this agenda, please contact the 
officer named at the foot of that agenda item. 

From:      To: 
Jason Field 
Interim Director of Legal and Governance 
Agenda Contact: Kav Amrez / Louis Kingdom 
Phone: 07929 070288/07890 416570 
E-Mail: kanwal.Amrez2@bradford.gov.uk/louis.kingdom@bradford.gov.uk 
 

 



 

 

  
A. PROCEDURAL ITEMS 
 
  
1.   ALTERNATE MEMBERS (Standing Order 34) 

 
The Director of Legal and Governance will report the names of 
alternate Members who are attending the meeting in place of 
appointed Members. 
 
 

 

 
2.   DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 

 
(Members Code of Conduct – Part 4A of the Constitution) 
  
To receive disclosures of interests from members and co-opted 
members on matters to be considered at the meeting. The disclosure 
must include the nature of the interest. 
  
An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it becomes 
apparent to the member during the meeting. 
  
Notes: 
  
(1)       Members must consider their interests, and act according to the 

following: 
  

Type of Interest You must: 
    
Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests 

Disclose the interest; not participate in 
the discussion or vote; and leave the 
meeting unless you have a dispensation. 

    
Other Registrable 
Interests (Directly 
Related) 
OR 
Non-Registrable 
Interests (Directly 
Related) 

Disclose the interest; speak on the item 
only if the public are also allowed to 
speak but otherwise not participate in the 
discussion or vote; and leave the 
meeting unless you have a dispensation. 

    
Other Registrable 
Interests (Affects) 
OR 
Non-Registrable 
Interests (Affects) 

Disclose the interest; remain in the 
meeting, participate and vote unless the 
matter affects the financial interest or 
well-being 
  
  

 (a) to a greater extent than it affects 
the financial interests of a majority of 
inhabitants of the affected ward, and 
  
(b) a reasonable member of the public 

 



 

 

knowing all the facts would believe that 
it would affect your view of the wider 
public interest;in which case speak on 
the item only if the public are also 
allowed to speak but otherwise not do 
not participate in the discussion or 
vote; and leave the meeting unless 
you have a dispensation. 

  
(2)       Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to the Member concerned 

or their spouse/partner. 
  
(3)       Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months 

must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget 
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this restriction 
applies to them.  A failure to comply with these requirements is a 
criminal offence under section 106 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992.   

  
(4)       Officers must disclose interests in accordance with Council 

Standing Order 44. 
 
  

3.   INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution) 
  
Reports and background papers for agenda items may be inspected by 
contacting the person shown after each agenda item.  Certain reports 
and background papers may be restricted.   
  
Any request to remove the restriction on a report or background paper 
should be made to the relevant Strategic Director or Assistant Director 
whose name is shown on the front page of the report.   
  
If that request is refused, there is a right of appeal to this meeting.   
  
Please contact the officer shown below in advance of the meeting if 
you wish to appeal.   
  

(Kav Amrez / Louis Kingdom – 07929 070228 / 07890 416570) 
 
 

 

 
4.   REFERRALS TO THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Any referrals that have been made to this Committee up to and including 
the date of publication of this agenda will be reported at the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



 

 

B. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ACTIVITIES 
 
  
5.   BRADFORD CHILDREN'S SERVICES IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

 
The CEO of Bradford Children and Families Trust (BCFT) will submit a 
report (Document “R”) that presents a Progress Report on the 
Improvement Plan detailing the progress made since July up to 
November 2023 and the next steps of the Bradford Children and 
Families Trust (BCFT). 
 
Recommended –  
 
The Committee is invited to note this report, the new Improvement 
Plan and the Quarter 4 Progress Report (see appendices). 
 

(Ruth Terry - ruth.terry@bradfordcft.org.uk) 
 
 

1 - 54 

 
6.   AUDIT FINDINGS RELATING TO THE QUALITY OF SOCIAL WORK 

PRACTICE 
 
The Strategic Director of Children’s Services will submit a report 
(Document “S”) which provides an update regarding the quality 
assurance and audit process in the Children and Families Trust, April 
2023 to November 2023. 
 
Recommended –  
 
That the next steps are endorsed to continue to support practice 
improvement.  
 

(Amandip Johal – 07773 248040) 
 
 

55 - 66 

 
7.   CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

- WORK PROGRAMME 2023/24 
 
The report of the Chair of the Children’s Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (Document “T”) includes the Children’s Services 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee work programme for 2023/24. 
 
Recommended – 
 
(1) That members consider and comment on the areas of work 

included in the work programme. 
 

(2) That members consider any detailed scrutiny reviews that 
they may wish to conduct. 

 
(Mustansir Butt – 01274 432574) 

 

67 - 76 

 



 

 

THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER 
 



 
 

 
 

Report of the Strategic Director Children’s Services to the 
meeting of Children Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
to be held on – 7th February 2024 

R 
 
 
Subject:  Bradford Children’s Services Improvement Plan 
 
Summary statement: 
 
The Bradford Children and Families Trust continues to deliver on the Improvement Plan approved by 
the Improvement Board in April 2022.  The Improvement Plan Progress Report is presented and 
discussed at the Improvement Board on a quarterly basis, with Quarter 2 Report being presented in 
September 23 and Quarter 3 due to be shared at the end of January 24. 
 
The Trust is currently developing their Children and Families Plan in line with the priorities and 
imperatives set out in the Business Plan which will outline the priorities and focused areas for the next 
18 months, this work will inform future progress reports. 
 
The response to the areas for improvement identified in the Ofsted inspection (ILACS) which 
commenced in November 2022, have been set out in the Ofsted Action Plan and this has been 
incorporated into the Improvement Plan and will feature within the Children and Families Plan.  
Furthermore, areas of improvement identified from the Ofsted Monitoring Visit in July 2023 and 
November 2023 have been cross referenced and added or updated as required. 
 
This report is to present a Progress Report to Overview & Scrutiny Committee on the progress since 
July up to November 23 and our next steps.  
 
EQUALITY & DIVERSITY: 
 
There is not a dedicated strand for equality and diversity consideration, they are considered and 
addressed throughout the strands, objectives and the success measures in the Improvement Plan. 
 

 

  
Charlotte Ramsden 
CEO Bradford Children and Families Trust 
 

Portfolio:   
 
Children & Families 
 

Report Contact:  Ruth Terry 
E-mail: ruth.terry@bradfordcft.org.uk  
 

Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
Children’s Services 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5/

mailto:ruth.terry@bradfordcft.org.uk


1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The Bradford Children’s Services Improvement Plan has strong leadership and assurance 

mechanisms in place. Support from the Chief Executive, elected members, Bradford Children 
and Families Trust, Bradford Local Authority Children’s Services, partners and senior leaders, 
ensures focus, drive and pace.  
 

1.2 The plan commenced in April 2022 and was commissioned and is governed by the refreshed 
Bradford Children’s Improvement Board, which is chaired by the Bradford Children’s 
Commissioner. 

 
1.3 The Improvement Plan Progress Report is presented and discussed at the Improvement Board 

on a quarterly basis. 
 
1.4 The response to the areas for improvement identified in the Ofsted inspection (ILACS) which 

commenced in November 2022, have been set out in the Ofsted Action Plan and this has been 
incorporated into the Improvement Plan and will feature within the Children and Families Plan.  
Furthermore, areas of improvement identified from the Ofsted Monitoring Visit in July 2023 and 
November 2023 have been cross referenced and added or updated as required. 

 
1.5 This report is to present a Progress Report to Overview & Scrutiny Committee on the progress 

since July up to November 23 and our next steps. 
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Improvement Plan is in two halves and enables a relentless focus on improving outcomes 

for children and young people and ensuring that those supporting them and their families have 
the right conditions in place to provide quality services and for success. 

 
A - Improving the lives of children and young people: 
1. Who are referred to our Front Door 
2. Who need early help 
3a. Who are in need of help and protection 
3b. With disabilities   
4. Who are on the edge of care (to include a Turning the Curve plan to safely  

 reduce the number of children needing to be looked after) 
5. Who are in care and who have left care 

 
B - Creating the conditions for success: 
6. Ensuring children, young people and families have voice and influence 
7. Strategic leadership ensuring the conditions for success are created 
8. A sufficient and stable workforce  
9. A constant focus on practice improvement and an agreed practice model 
10. A strong and collaborative partnership 
11. Buildings, IT, finance, admin. HR support and equipment that support quality  

 practice 
12. Data and Insight (Learning and improving through performance management  

 and quality assurance) 
 
 
 

-2- 

Page 2



 
 
 2.2 The Improvement Plan has identified measures for success; these success measures (data 

and milestones) are reported on quarterly and presented to the Improvement Board in the form 
of the Progress Report.  

 
2.3 The plan is iterative and dynamic and will develop and adapt in line with improvement 

priorities.  The next piece of work is to develop a phased approach to these priorities. 
 
2.4 Examples in addition to what was provided in the February 2023 report on the Improvement 

Plan to Children’s Overview & Scrutiny panel include:  
• Integrated Front Door (IFD) 

o Review undertaken by professor Thorpe and  colleagues with recommendations put 
forward for further embedding and improvement of the conversations based 
approach. 

o Refreshed training undertaken with existing workforce and with new social workers 
within the team. 

o Emergency Duty Team is now co-located with Police colleagues in Trafalgar House.   
o Police Protection Notifications review undertaken jointly with police and 

recommended areas of improvement currently being taken forward. 
o Joint partnership early identification methods introduced within the child exploitation 

service resulting in the service supporting more young people as identifying need.  
• Early Help 

o Early Help representation within child in need panels to increase the number of 
children able to safely step down at earlier points with early help practitioners able to 
advise on what support their service can offer. 

o Joint service manager forums to ensure robust, reflective planning discussions take 
place and prevent further escalation in need/risk. 

o Newly appointed Navigators within each Hub. 
• Help and Protection 

o Improved quality of strategy meetings has resulted in a decrease in the number 
progressing to initial child protection conference due to alternative approaches to 
supporting families safely. 

o Month on month improvement on timeliness of initial child protection conferences. 
o Introduced family group conferencing / family networking offer for children prior to 

public law outline (PLO) being initiated. 
• Edge of Care (Turning the Curve) 

o Established Bradford Strengthening Families Service to include 2 Outreach Teams, 
Family Group Conferencing and Family Time. 

o Developed priorities for both the babies and adolescence turning the curve priorities. 
• Children in care and young people leaving care 

o Sufficiency Board established and setting out and delivering on areas of priority. 
o Developed and delivering on the Independent Fostering Agency set up and 

improvement priorities. 
• Workforce Stability 

o Successful recruitment to 3 Assistant Directors to further strengthen the 
management structure. 

o Successful permanent recruitment at head of service, service manager and practice 
supervisor levels. 

 
-3- 

Page 3



 
• Practice Improvement 

o Learning and Development prospectus developed and being delivered to the 
workforce. 

o Practice Improvement Programme being delivered to managers across the service. 
o Six obsessions programme has launched to support practice within key areas. 
o Restorative practice action learning sets being undertaken with leadership groups 

within social care in the Trust.  
• Strategic Leadership ensuring the conditions for success are created. 

o Business Plan has been developed and shared with the Council 
 
3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
3.1 Capacity to implement the Improvement Plan has been reviewed for both the Bradford 

Children and Families Trust and Local Authority. 
 
Within the Trust, an improvement and inspection service has been established, with the 
majority of the posts recruited to.  The team currently sits under the Executive Director, 
however, from January 24, the service will sit under the new Early Help and Transformation 
Assistant Director.  Within the Local Authority, inspection and improvement functions in 
addition to the ICF function, sit under the Assistant Director for Improvement and Partnerships 
(AD I&P). 
 

3.2 In addition, Bradford is supported by Leeds Relational Practice Centre in the role of 
improvement partner through funding by the DfE. 

 
4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL 
 
4.1 Budgetary, workforce, internal and media communication considerations are all high priorities 

within this improvement plan and are monitored in addition to the reporting requirements of the 
Children and Families Trust through the Intelligent Client Function.  

 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
5.1 The risks relate to not implementing the improvement plan as the majority of the priorities are 

those which have been identified as being essential to the ongoing improvement requirements 
for social care, and areas for improvement identified in the ILACS, that will enable a move from 
an Inadequate Ofsted judgement.  

 
5.2 By not making the required improvements, the risks are that children, young people and their 

families are not helped and safeguarded as they should be in the Bradford district, and that 
future Ofsted inspection activities continue to identify and judge the Trust/Local Authority to be 
Inadequate. 

 
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL 
 
6.1 There are no specific legal issues arising from this report but many of the priorities in the plan 

relate to the local authority’s responsibilities to the Children Act 1989. 
 
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 

-4- 

Page 4



 
7.1 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7.2 TACKLING THE CLIMATE EMERGENCY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7.3 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7.4 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 
 
 No specific issues related to the Act. 
 
7.5 TRADE UNION 
  

Trade Unions have been and will be consulted on relevant aspects of the plan, for example, 
the changes to the Integrated Front Door. 

 
7.6 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 

There are no specific ward implications. 
 
7.7 IMPLICATIONS FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
 

The whole of the Improvement Plan is concerned with improving outcomes for children and 
young people including through Corporate Parenting.  

  
7.8 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT 
  
 No issues identified. 
  
8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS 
 
8.1 None. 
 
9. OPTIONS 
 
9.1 Not applicable. 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
10.1 The Committee is invited to note this report, the new Improvement Plan and the Quarter 4 

Progress Report (see appendices). 
 
 
 
 

-5- 

Page 5



11. APPENDICES 
 
11.1 Appendix 1 - Progress Report July to December 23 
 
11.2 Appendix 2 - July 23 Ofsted Monitoring Visit Letter 
 
11.3 Appendix 3 - November 23 Ofsted Monitoring Visit Outcome Letter. 
 
11.4 Appendix 4 - Fostering Ofsted Monitoring Visit Letter 
 
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

-6- 

Page 6



 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 
July to December 2023 

 

 
 
 

P
age 7



2 
 

Improvement Plan Progress Report – July to December 2023 
The Bradford Children and Families Trust have continued to the deliver on the Improvement Plan approved by the Improvement Board in 2022, which was 
further adapted in May 2023 in response to the outcome of the Ofsted ILACS Inspection in November/December 2022.   
 
In addition, the Trust has developed their Business Plan covering the next four years and this will be launched in January 2024 with the Trust workforce.  The 
Business Plan has been shared with the Council but has not yet been agreed due to the need to review costings and timescales set against the plan, 
however, the Trust are working internally to progress the actual work.  We are currently in the process of developing our Children and Families Plan to align 
with the Business Plan priorities and imperatives as outlined below building strongly on the existing Improvement Plan: 
 

1) Strengthen services to provide earlier help for children and families 

• Develop a wider range of Early Help and Family Help interventions with partners 
 

2) Improve quality of relationship-based practice. And decision making with a clear focus outcome.  

• Improve social work practice and do the simple things well 

• Create An environment where social work can flourish 
 

3) Better choices for local care. 

• Establish the Sufficiency Board to deliver more local care 
 

4) The Trust being alongside children and families to empower them better.  

• Embed a child and family engagement framework 
 

5) Build stronger partnerships 

• Develop and maintain close cross-system partnerships 
 
We continue to report throughout various governance forums as a Trust, and from January 2024, we are introducing a Child and Family  Steering Group with 
the purpose and aims being to: 

• Approve new projects, provide clarity for the scope of new projects, the outcomes to be achieved, the necessary resource commitment from services and 
timescales 

• Track progress and next steps of live projects 

• Review evidence of impact 

• Address risks, barriers and challenges related to the project 

• Make decisions on identified or highlighted areas of concern where the scope of project might need to be adapted 

• Share and review case studies 

• Share compliments 

• Approve highlight and progress reports for various audiences. 
 
The following pages provide updates on the various strands of the Improvement Plan. 

P
age 8



3 
 

  Improving the lives of children and young people referred to our Integrated Front Door (IFD) 
 
Embed conversations-based approach to receiving referrals  
Establish a weekly referral review meeting and monthly partnership lessons learnt forum  
The conversations-based approach was implemented in November 22 with an aim to switch from paper-based contacts and referrals to telephone 
conversations between a highly experienced consultant social workers and the referrer. In most instances, this is with partner agency professionals, and the 
approach allows for joint discussion, decision making and planning for the child as well as allowing for professional challenge regarding how best to support 
and help families as opposed to assessing all families.  The approach recognises there will be an increase in the number of contacts, however, the 
conversation and accountability is designed to reduce the number of children escalating to statutory intervention by 30%.   
 
The approach continues to be reviewed through the weekly referral audit meeting with lessons and areas of development shared with partners in monthly 
learning forums.  Professor Thorpe and his colleagues continued to support and review progress up until December 23.   
 
Within this reporting period: 

• Professor Thorpe and his colleagues held our 26-week review on 20th October 23.  The review found that, as expected, the number of contacts had 
increased, however, this was to a much greater extent than has been seen in other children’s services.  They also found that whilst the number of contacts 
resulting in a referral had decreased by 29% for Police, this was not mirrored across all agencies and our average reduction overall was 16% (expectation 
is an overall 30% reduction in referrals).  Added to this, the integrated front door continues to receive a high number of referrals by e-mail, the aim of the 
conversations-based approach is to significantly reduce this activity. 

• Professor Thorpe and his colleagues have undertaken refresher training sessions with the workforce from 15th to 20th November 23 with added coaching 
for managers where it was required. 

• We have held a number of interactive workshops in December with partners sharing case studies to help them understand the journey of a contact to 
referral and then on to either statutory intervention, early help etc.  The aim of these session are to ensure that partners are calling in at the best 
opportunity for children and families to receive the right support at the right time by the right agency(ies). 

• Professor Thorpe and his colleagues held our final post implementation review on 19th December 23 looking at the full 52 weeks since the launch of the 
conversations base approach in Bradford.  Within the 52-week period, we have seen a  

o 156.6% increase in telephone contacts from our partners, the biggest increase seen as be from Education 
o 15% unexpected increase in the number of referrals received by e-mail, this was explored as part of the review with the outcome being that 

this was a data recording issue.   
o 5.8% reduction in contacts resulting a referral, with some points during the year seeing a 21.9% reduction.   
o Minimal overall reduction in referrals resulting in a strategy meeting, however, there were times in the year we saw a 10.8% reduction.   
o 10.8% increase in the number of referrals resulting in section 47 child protection enquiry 
o 5%  reduction in single assessments with some points throughout the year seeing a 26.5% reduction. 

 
Our Next Steps are: 

• Deliver further interactive workshops with partners through January and February 24. 
 

P
age 9



4 
 

How will we know we have been successful? 
 

What 
good 

looks like 

Jul 23 Aug 23 Sept 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 

Reduction in the number of contacts Low 3567 2853 3467 3567 3741 2667 

Reduced % in contacts resulting in a referral Low 22.8% 23.7% 22.9% 20.9% 19.2% 18.3% 

Increase % of contacts to IFD completed within 1 working day High 78.9% 84.8% 80.0% 83.7% 89.4% 94.2% 

Reduced % of referrals which were opened within 12 months of the previous 
referral opening 

Low 19.1% 22.6% 22.9% 21.4% 26.0% 27.7% 

 
Establish a dedicated Emergency Duty Team (EDT) for children and young people – Complete April 23 

 
Establish a Domestic Abuse Hub within IFD to strengthen our multi-agency response to notifications  
Within this reporting period: 

• The Domestic Abuse Hub within IFD has been established with staff being re-organised to put in place a dedicated team that includes a Team Manager, 
Practice Supervisor and four Social Workers to respond to domestic abuse contacts and referrals.  

• A review has been undertaken of the Daily Risk Assessment Meeting (DRAM) following feedback that this forum was adult focused and not informing 
safety planning for children.  Agreement has been made to prioritise discussions on incidents that include children and for a safety plan to be developed. 

• A joint audit was undertaken between IFD and Police on 31st October 23 looking at the quality of Police Protection Notices (PPNs).  This review 
highlighted that the quality of PPN’s being sent into IFD were not of a standard that would allow IFD colleagues to identify risk or required decision making 
on next steps for any children without the full scrutiny of the entire log.  

• Police have rolled out PPN training with colleagues in October/November 23. The IFD has subsequently seen a 33% reduction in contacts since 
September 23. 

• From the 22nd of January 2024, the police have allotted an officer to sit alongside a practice supervisor to co-triage all nondomestic related PPN’s where 
an initial joint analysis and decision making will take place on next steps  

• Quarterly reviews have been diarised for the next 12 months to continue tracking progress and areas of development in this area.  

• Transferred the duties of MARAC from Safeguarding Service to the Domestic Abuse Hub which will conclude on 30th January 24. 
 

Our Next Steps are: 

• Embed the new process of hearing children’s situations first and the production of a safety plan within the DRAM. 

• To further strengthen the Domestic Abuse HUB offer by aligning more closely to Police domestic abuse colleagues, Staying Put and the Independent 
Domestic Violence Advocates (IDVA) service  

 
How will we know we have been successful? 
Reduction in the number of contacts resulting in Information and Advice which then tells us that the quality of contacts submitted has improved. 
 
The data is telling us that the number of police contacts dropped from 1056 in July to 706 in Dec.  Over the last 3 months the number of police contacts 
resulting in Information and Advice has decreased from 472 to 387. The % of police contacts resulting in Information & Advice has increased in the light of 
fewer contacts being made. 

P
age 10



5 
 

 

 Contacts Information and Advice 

 All Contacts Police % Number % 

July 3567 1056 29.60% 418 39.58% 

August 2852 1094 38.36% 451 41.22% 

September 3467 1049 30.26% 465 44.33% 

October 3568 1038 29.09% 472 45.47% 

November 3744 951 25.40% 381 40.06% 

December 2669 706 26.45% 387 54.82% 

 
Strengthen our early identification methods, response, and support to Child Exploitation (CE) within IFD 
Within this reporting period: 

• A simpler, shorter add on to the risk assessment has been developed which focuses on updates to existing information to an already completed risk 
assessment. 

• Introduced eight weekly multi-agency forum meetings to undertake audits on the timeline of the child and incident. This allows multi-agency sharing of 
information to identify any risks throughout the child’s journey, missed opportunities, good practice and lessons to be learnt.  

• Launched fortnightly Identification Meetings and fortnightly Criminal Exploitation Meetings to identify any further children at risk in current investigations. 

• Commenced co-working between locality social workers and exploitation workers to further embed the contextual safeguarding model into plans and 
improve earlier support offer. 

• Introduced Identification Meetings specific to organised crime gangs.  

• Re-established Mapping Meetings, which draws on the investigation of perpetrators to identify children linked to them.  

• Launched quarterly partnership meetings at operational level, to develop practice and evidence improvement in line with the co-working model 

• Introduced fortnightly information sharing meetings with West Yorkshire Police and Youth Services to target and address issues in locations of high 
criminal exploitation.    

• Housing is now represented on our four weekly MACE meetings to further impact on early identification.  

• Health practitioners within the IFD holding a caseload of children relating to child exploitation, particularly children assessed as moderate. They attend 
strategy meetings, undertake health assessments, support children around their vulnerabilities and emotional needs and signpost to other agencies such 
as advocates or ADHD assessment.  

 
Our Next Steps are 

• Increase co-working activities between child exploitation social workers and locality social workers for children as graded as a moderate risk (prevention). 

• Training for staff linked to the Early Help / Bradford Strengthening Families offer to improve earlier identification for appropriate resources at the right time. 

• Develop a contextual safeguarding workstream to review young people aged 15 to 17 who are subject to child protection planning to identify common 
themes to inform areas of development. 

 

How will we know we have been successful? What good 
looks like 

Q3 22/23 Q1 Q2 Q3 

Increase in the number of children identified and supported by CE Service High - 122 151 201 

P
age 11



6 
 

Strengthen our response to children and young people who go missing whether vulnerable and / or in care 
Within this reporting period: 

• Introduce structured sign off process for missing related tasks. All missing episodes are reviewed daily by the team manager (service manager in the 
absence of team manager) who then progresses missing contacts to strategy meetings / child and family assessment as required. The senior missing 
practitioner progresses support to Tier 1, 2 or 3 Early Help as required and is responsible for the closure of missing contacts. 

• Bradford Strengthening Families are now using intelligence from missing episodes with the initial priority being for young people who have had under 3 
missing episodes.  Where young people and families want to access support to make a change, they will be allocated an outreach worker to discuss and 
plan what support is required.  The services has recruited an additional Team Manager to focus on this area with the aim of reducing or preventing future 
episodes and prevent placement breakdown in the long term. 

 
Our Next Steps are: 

• The Service Manager to develop a service plan for wider improvements within the Missing Service linked to the child exploitation work. 
 

How will we know we have been successful? What good 
looks like 

Jul 23 Aug 23 Sept 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 

Reduction in the number of children who go missing Low 134 107 144 138 111 103 

Reduction in the number of children in care who go missing Low 66 49 64 70 54 51 

Reduced number of missing episodes Low 267 
164 (CiC) 

213 
134 (CiC) 

274 
164 (CiC) 

259 
164 (CiC) 

208 
117 (CiC) 

183 
102 (CiC) 

Increased % in return home interviews accepted by 
children 

High 43% 37% 47% 44% 39% 83% 

Increased % in return home interviews accepted by 
children in care 

High 32% 23% 41% 27% 27% 70% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 12



7 
 

Improving the lives of children and young people who need Early Help 
 
Early help to be ‘Simpler, Nearer and Earlier’ – by further developing our Family Hubs arrangements and ensuring they are well known across the district 
Within this reporting period: 

• Focused targeted work on making access to services for families in need of help simpler, this has been strengthened by the newly appointed Navigators 
within each Hub. Their role is to : 

o Provide a whole family service -  meet and greet as well as support services for children, young people, families and other agencies/partners within 
the Family hub. Dealing with and resolving requests for information / support / help in the Family hubs, acting as a ‘bridge’ between families, the 
community, and our Family Hub services.  

• Delivering monthly information awareness sessions to children’s social care staff to provide understanding on how to access services within early help and 
prevention and how to step a family down to family support. 

• We have implemented a Child in Need reviewing process which is proving effective in safely stepping down to early help at the earliest opportunity. 

• Introduced joint service manager discussion forums between the Assessment Teams and Family Support to ensure robust, reflective planning discussions 
take place and prevent further escalation in need/risk.   

 
Our Next Steps are: 

• Develop the Early Help Model and offer following the pilot to include the continued work with children who step up from child in need or child protection 

• Simplify the element of consent to ensure that this does not become a barrier for families accessing support, but in turn, captures consent at appropriate 
points of step up into statutory social work intervention. 

• Develop promotional, awareness and communication campaign to include access to Early Help (Free Telephone number, Children’s Portal and Hubs) and 
the step down to Early Help from statutory social work. 

 

How will we know we have been successful? What 
good 

looks like 

Jul 23 Aug 23 Sept 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 

Increased number of Early Help Assessments – Tier 2 (universal) High 89 23 35 39 62 42 

Increased number of Early Help Assessments – Tier 3 (What good looks like) High 93 84 97 79 85 72 

Reduced % of repeat Early Help episodes. Low 9.8% 12.2% 7.4% 9.6% 14.9% 9.8% 

Increased % cases closed to Early Help due to progress made High 39% 31% 45% 55% 46% 63% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 13



8 
 

Improving the lives of children and young people who need of Help and Protection  
 
Multi-agency approach of information sharing and decision making within Strategy Meetings and Section 47 Investigations  
Within this reporting period: 

• Developed and rolled out a new, simplified Strategy Meeting Request Form and Recording Template which have been piloted and are currently being built 
into LCS 

• Developed and widely shared across the workforce and partnership a Strategy Meeting Guidance emphasising the timescales of all strategy meetings 
being held within 24 hours (2 hours for injuries and long-term neglect). 

• Internal review undertaken of strategy meetings in October which has informed targeted areas of focus required to improve practice and recording of 
strategy meetings.  

• Service Managers have undertaken practice observations of all team managers chairing a strategy meeting to identify good practice and inform learning. 

• Established weekly meetings with Police and Health colleagues to address issues in real time.  

• Co-ordinated approach to Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARC) Medicals established with monitoring mechanism, this has resulted in an increase in 
timely submissions for strategy meetings. 

• Improved quality of strategy meeting, this has been evidenced through our internal audit activities but also endorsed through our two most recent Ofsted 
Monitoring Visits with the published letters stating that: 

o “When children require a safeguarding response, decisions to convene strategy meetings and progress to child protection enquiries are timely.  
Strategy meetings are attended by the relevant professionals, who share appropriate information to inform decision-making with the outcome to 
progress to child protection enquiry being clearly recorded” (Ofsted July 23) 

o “When safeguarding concerns arise, multi-agency strategy meetings are timely and are well attended by key professionals, who share relevant 
information to inform safeguarding decisions” (Ofsted November 23).  

• Audit undertaken of 133 children with repeat missing episodes which found the majority of the children were going missing under same/similar 
circumstances and would not ordinarily require repeat strategy meetings under statutory legislation.  We have explored pathways that are more inclusive 
for families as an alternative to strategy meetings and these will be in the form of Vulnerable Risk Management Meetings (VRM) that are currently being 
developed. 

• Locality pilot underway focusing on team mangers meeting to review strategy meetings from the previous week. 
 
Our Next Steps are: 

• Incorporate training and learning as part of inductions and within our academies for Newly Qualified Social Workers in their Assessed and Supported Year 
of Employment (ASYE) and international social workers. 

• Hold interactive Strategy Meeting workshops with all Team Managers and Specialist Minute Takers from 22nd January to 14th February 24 to further 
strengthen practice around convening, holding, decision making and recording strategy meetings, this will include specific training for specialist takers.  
These sessions will be led by service managers and will include reviewing and discussing case examples.  

• Implementing weekly Strategy Meeting Practice Meetings to inform areas of learning (initially in one locality) that review individual practice and quality. 

• Establish the resources to facilitate the Vulnerable Risk Management Meetings (VRM’s) to be launched in Spring 24.  

• Commence the focus of improvement and practice learning around Section 47 enquiries. 

• Providing a safe place for children and their parents following child protection medicals. 

P
age 14



9 
 

How will we know we have been successful? What 
good 

looks like 

Jul 23 Aug 23 Sept 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 

Increased % in timeliness of strategy meetings High 94% 91% 93% 97% 98% 97% 

% of strategy meetings resulting in S47 enquiries High 76% 75.7% 77.4% 71.9% 70.6% 68.7% 

 
Good quality, consistent and timely Child and Family Assessments with a ‘pass the baton’ to other services approach.  
Within this reporting period: 

• Newly designed Early Help Assessment signed off and undertaken with five families across October and November 23. 

• Audit and review undertaken on the current quality of Assessments to identify good practice, areas of training need and inform improved ways forward.   

• Second round of surveys completed with families on their views of the Assessment process, areas of development have been identified with the process 
being rolled out to all localities. 

• Monthly obsessions have commenced with an element focusing on Assessments. 

• Practice improvement programme commenced with Team Managers and Social Worker which includes a focused area on Assessments with focus on 
team managers driving quality. 

• Ten-day management oversight has been embedded with performance measures in place. 

• The 10-day multi agency meetings have been trialled in one locality and the impact is being presented to our Multi-Agency Improvement Development 
Group and Children’s Social Care Management Team Meeting with a planned rollout across the service.  The current strength of this platform are: 

o Having a space to share the concerns when a referral has come from school or other agency working with the family, highlighted with parents and 
removes emphasis from the social worker, which is supporting better working relationships between social workers and families – this method 
provides clarity on where the concern comes from 

o Enables earlier planning and consideration of appropriate professional support for a family  
o Early Help Navigators attending via Teams to recommend community resources 
o Provides the family the opportunity to better understand the concerns and consider what they can do to promote change 
o Promotes participation and multi-agency accountability from agencies and builds relationships with partner agencies  
o Leads to better assessments, more evidence-based with clear recommendations that are family specific 
o Ensures effective working with a family at the earliest opportunity, avoids drift and delay 
o Reduces the number of children that need to remain with Children’s Services/transfer to long-term teams 
o Enables contingency plans to be built into assessments if a child is re-referred i.e., clarity of signposting for support prior to agencies referring 

straight to Bradford Children and Families Trust 
o Increase in the number of 10-day assessments as a single meeting will provide the information necessary and the management oversight 
o Provides more information to support supervision and decision-making at an earlier opportunity  
 

Our Next Steps are: 

• Revise Practice Standards and develop practice guidance and tools to support the workforce and managers on undertaking 'Good' assessments, this will 
be led by the Principle Social Worker 

P
age 15



10 
 

How will we know we have been successful? What 
good 

looks like 

Jul 23 Aug 23 Sept 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 

Increased % of Assessments completed within 45 days High 72% 72% 75% 79% 84% 82% 

 
Increased timeliness of Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPC) held within 15 working days of the Strategy Meeting  
Within this reporting period: 

• We continue to escalate at the point of allocation when there is late notification of an ICPC, updating Service Managers. We are also raising more robust 
dispute resolution at the point of allocation when the request for ICPC is being made later in the child’s journey than we would have expected. 

• We continue to share a monthly timeliness report with the senior leadership team, setting out the reason why an ICPC did not take place on time, broken 
down into service areas.  

• Requests to postpone conferences and reviews continue to need oversight and agreement of the Service Manager and Head of Service for the locality 
team and this has been reinforced during senior leadership meetings. 

 

How will we know we have been successful? What 
good 

looks like 

Jul 23 Aug 23 Sept 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 

Improved % timeliness of ICPC High 58% 81% 84% 95% 73% 93% 

Increased % of Initial Child Protection Conferences resulting in a Child 
Protection Plan 

High 85% 95% 94% 89% 97% 83% 
Tentative 

 

 
Effective multi-agency meetings such as Child in Need, Child Protection and Core Group Meetings  
Within this reporting period: 

• Professional standards have been shared and implemented across the workforce and partnership, and discussed at the Multi-Agency Improvement 
Development Group 

• Developed and undertook questionnaire with families in January 24 for children whose child protection plan ended in December to gain their views on the 
process to inform areas of development. 

• Restorative Practice training and chairing scheduled to commence in March 23 with the child protection co-ordinators.   

• Focused work has been undertaken around the attendance and/or information submission to multiagency meetings from GPs. 

• Multi-agency training on contributing to multi-agency meetings and child protection processes. 
 
Our Next Steps are: 

• Develop a further improvement plan following the completion and outcome of the surveys to include child in need meetings and core groups. 

• Undertake targeted work with partners with low attendance and information submission to highlight the added value of their information sharing and 
attendance for decision making to safeguard children. 

 

P
age 16



11 
 

How will we know we have been successful? What 
good 

looks like 

Jul 23 Aug 23 Sept 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 

Improved % timeliness of Child in Need meetings High 65% 74% 59% 67% 60% 71% 

Improved % timeliness of Core Group meetings High 90% 87% 83% 89% 91% 93% 

Improved % timeliness of Child Protection Reviews High 90% 91% 87% 84% 80% 95% 

 
Timely completion of statutory safeguarding checks and compliance with regulation regarding private fostering and connected carers. 
Within this reporting period: 

• Draft Annual Report for Private Fostering with Executive Director for sign off and highlights shared due to be shared with the Improvement Board late 
January 24. 

• Draft Communications Plan developed and shared with Partners for their input on best ways to share the message across the partnership and public on 
Private Fostering. 

 
Our Next Steps are: 

• Update promotional materials ready for the awareness campaign across the service and with partners in identifying Private Fostering arrangements. 

• Develop and deliver training across the service and partnership on Private Fostering. 

• Execute the communications plan including the undertaking of a survey with young people and families to identify current awareness of private fostering 
and to inform future service delivery. 

• Identify a dedicated social worker that will be dedicated for case holding all privately fostered young people under the lead head of service for private 
fostering. 

 

How will we know we have been successful? What 
good 

looks like 

Jul 23 Aug 23 Sept 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 

Increase in identified Private Fostering Arrangements High 5 5 5 4 3 2 

 
Timely escalation to public law outline (PLO) and timely progression of permanence in all its forms  
Within this reporting period: 

• Leeds Relational Practice Centre have undertaken a review of the Legal Gateway Panel and decision making through observations and put forward 
recommendations of areas of improvement complementary and/or in addition to those made by the case review undertaken by Ingson (independent 
auditors) – this included a review of the agenda and minutes pro-forma to ensure full discussion is held and reflected in minutes consistently across all 
chairs. 

• The agenda and agenda has been updated to become focused bullet points on the decision making rather than the narrative of the case.  It is the 
responsibility of the chair to review and approve the minutes.   

• A Co-chair will support and ensure thorough scrutiny with the decision making and recommendations of the legal gateway panel. 

• Training updated and delivered to all localities. 

P
age 17



12 
 

• Practice introduced to offer family group conferencing prior to progressing to legal gateway panel, alternative options include family meeting and thorough 
exploration of extended family support, this will be part of all child protection plans. 

• Developed and delivered mandatory pre-proceedings training package. 

• Use of supportive language within paperwork to evidence the help and intervention families can expect and understanding children and family’s 
trauma/journey.   

• Ensuring we understand the child’s lived experience, their wishes and feelings and the impact of the situation on their welfare – this is central to our 
decision making. 

• Pre-proceedings and care proceedings are tracked by court consultants to support timeliness and quality 
 
Our Next Steps are:  

• Child Protection chairs to implement changes to their scrutiny around child protection plans, family, fathers, support, help and interventions and multi-
agency to reduce keenness to progress to PLO when the child protection plan is not working rather than thinking the child protection plan needs changing.   

• Introduce court consultants audits each month so that we have an ongoing oversight of the impact of the above to make sure the training and knowledge if 
being embedded. 

 

How will we know we have been successful? What good looks like 

Average time in, working days, between decision to progress to Legal Gateway Panel and the 
Panel taking place 

Data platform currently being developed 

 
Improve the response to young people aged 16 and 17 are risk or who find themselves homeless  
Within this reporting period: 

• Youth Homeless Protocol finalised and shared with Levelling up Officer from the Department of Levelling up, Housing and Communities in November 23 
with positive feedback.  Protocol includes the additional level of support from Bradford Strengthening Families which will include family networking, family 
group conferencing and mediation. 

• Visits undertaken to Calderdale by Bradford Strengthening Families Colleagues and Housing Options looking at their crash-pad and long-term model for 
children who present as homeless. 

• Potential emergency care and accommodation within Bradford identified as well as underutilised commissioned services and a voluntary service that can 
be used. 

• Joint Audits have been undertaken on young people that have presented as homeless since 1st April.  Audits continue under the weekly review meetings 
that take place in the Integrated Front Door as part of the implementation of the conversation-based approach. 

 
Our Next Steps are: 

• Commission and establish appropriate short- and long-term accommodation and support for young people aged 16 and 17 who present as homeless.  

• Develop and deliver training as well as build awareness with partner agencies around the newly revised protocol. 

• Launch the new Youth Homeless Protocol in February 24 alongside training. 

• Develop a joint audit framework for youth homeless to be undertaken between children’s services and housing options. 
 
 

P
age 18



13 
 

How will we know we have been successful? What 
good 
looks 
like 

Jul 23 Aug 23 Sept 
23 

Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 

Decrease in the number of 16 and 17 year olds who present as homeless Low 4 1 1 8 8 3 

Increase in the number of 16 and 17 year olds who return home High 0 4 3 1 1 0 

 
Improving the lives of children and young people with a disability  
Within this reporting period: 

• Local Offer information updated and now live on the new Local Offer platform. 

• New terms of reference developed for the Multi-Agency Complex Case Funding Panel for Bradford Children and Young People and is being applied in 
practice. 

• Positive feedback from Ofsted during their monitoring visit in November 23 stated 
o “There has been improvement since the last inspection in response to disabled children subject to child in need and child protection planning.  

Disabled children benefit from consistent, experience workers who know them well.  Disabled children are seen regularly and in line with their 
needs.  This enables workers to have a good understanding of the children’s experiences.  Workers monitor risks to children and take 
appropriate action to ensure that disabled children are appropriately safeguard.  The professional networks around disabled children are 
effective.  Well attended multi-agency meetings facilitate regular information sharing and inform decision making.  Children’s plans are informed 
by thorough assessments.  Social workers understand the communication needs of disabled children and when disabled children are non-
verbal, alternative methods capture children’s views are used”. 

• Implemented revised transitions protocol between Adults Social Care and the Trust to ensure young people experience the right support as early as 
possible when planning for adulthood 

• Successfully implemented a Dynamic Support Register, a multi-agency response and offer of a Key Work Service that seeks to support children with 
autism and/or learning disabilities at most risk of hospitalisation or placement breakdown 

• Established a working group between CAMHS and social care to develop a multi-disciplinary preventative service to support children and families with the 
most complex needs 

• Established quarterly social care and education meetings between the Head Teachers of our Specialist Schools and the Trust to address challenges 
affecting children with complex disabilities. 

 
Our Next Steps are: 

• Deploy the communication and engagement plan. 

• Undertake a review of Short Breaks and Direct Payments for children with complex health and disability. 

• Establish a Short Breaks Board in January/February 2024 

• Develop training, tools and guidance for the workforce to support them in the work they undertake with children with complex health and disabilities. 

• Implement new internal pathway for children with a disability. 
 
 
 

P
age 19



14 
 

Improving the lives of children and young people who are on the edge of care (Turning the Curve) 
 
Establish an Edge of Care Service to safely support children to avoid coming into care and for children to go home where safe to do so. 
Within this reporting period: 

• Bradford Strengthening Families Service is established comprising two Family Outreach Teams, Family Group Conferencing, and a Family Time Team. 

• Service manager appointed and now in post and the majority of the posts within the Family Outreach teams have been appointed to. 

• Developed Training and Development Plan for the workforce to include Child in need and child protection awareness; Understanding of risk and safety 
planning; Motivational interviewing; Direct family work; Child and Adult sexual exploitation; Trauma informed practice; ACES; Working with children with 
disabilities; Domestic abuse and coercive control; Working with men; and Relationship Matters.. 

• Whole service away day held in July 23 with shared values being developed, a further away day is planned for 31st January 2024 focusing on doing the 
simple things well. 

• Project Action Plan developed and currently being delivered to ensure the model is embedded across the service. 

• Established weekly multi-agency resource panels which looks at referrals made to our Family Outreach Service.  The panel provides an opportunity to: 
discuss new referrals, explore the support that individual members of the family may benefit from and ensure the needs and voice of the child(ren) and 
family remain central to all support that is offered. 

• Added an additional layer of support to the Youth Homeless process to include targeted early help support from Bradford Strengthening Families Service. 

• Secured funding to purchase a property (2 planned beds and 1 crisis bed) which will be a respite home for children on the edge of care for short periods of 
time. 

• Established a service design and structure for expanding the Family Time Team. 

• Service has developed a plan with Leeds Relational Practice Centre to increase awareness and communication about the FGC support that is available, 
this is currently awaiting approval to be rolled out.  

• Held a ‘Better Together’ session on 4th December to explore how we can work effectively and have a joint offer with our specialist team colleagues (Health, 
Police and Education) to offer a multi-agency package of support for children, young people and families who may be on the trajectory to their children 
being looked after. 

• KPIs have been agreed for the Family Group Conferencing Service: 
o Reduction in the number of children taken into the care of the Trust with the families we have supported through a Family Group Conference  
o Timeliness of allocation (5 days from referral)    
o Increase in referrals to the team, particularly for Child in Need or Initial Child Protection Conference  
o Increase in completed Family Group Conference and Family Network Meetings  
o Increase in de-escalations due to Group Conference at 3 months, 6 month and 12-month post intervention 

▪ (percentage closed to CSC , percentage now CIN from CP) Will come from LCS  
o Increase in child, young person and family thoughts and views recorded as part of the Family plan.  
o 100% of case have management oversight every 4-week period 

 
.Our Next Steps are: 

• Complete recruitment activities for Family Time and Family Group Conferencing Teams,  currently two vacancies for Family Outreach Practitioners. 

• Secure planning permission for the change of use of the residential property, develop a service design and recruit staff to work within the home. 

P
age 20



15 
 

• Increase the use of the Family Group Conferencing Model, including Family Networking. 

• Promote the services across the social care locality teams for us to work with children in need and child protection children to reduce the number that 
escalate into becoming a child in care. 

• Recruit to the Family Time Team and safely transfer the supervisory functions of Family Time from social workers to family time workers which reduces 
burden on social workers. 

• Work jointly with the exploitation service to develop a workstream that enables us to offer support earlier when children and young people have been 
reported as missing by their family. 

 

How will we know we have been successful? What 
good 

looks like 

Jul 23 Aug 23 Sept 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 

Increased number of children supported by Outreach Service High 61 54 63 58 58 60 

Increased number of contacts supervised by Family Time Service High Datasets currently being developed 

Increased number of Family Group Conferences High 12 9 15 25 19 11 

Increased number of Family Network Meetings High 16 10 6 0 1 1 

 
Partnership Turning the Curve platform that identifies actions to address numbers of children who need statutory interventions including being in care  
Within this reporting period: 

• Held a workshop with Partners looking at the journey and experiences of bringing babies into care at birth or soon after and developed a joint improvement 
programme of works with five key areas of focus: 

1. Support package for pregnant mothers, fathers of the baby and their wider family and friends’ network where the anticipated outcome is for babies 
to be removed at birth 

2. Preventative support and intervention for vulnerable young people in place to educate, guide and support them in positive life choices 
3. Clear and fair legal support and guidance for pregnant mothers and  fathers and professionals 
4. Detailed understanding of the factors leading to the removal of babies to further inform areas of focus and prevent unnecessary removals 
5. Support for the workforce following the removal of babies 

• Internal meeting held with colleagues to start the development of the adolescence joint improvement programme and to date, 3 areas of focus have been 
developed: 

1. Support package for young people and their wider family and friends’ network to ensure wrap around support and alternative creative ways of 
working with young people 

2. Suitable accommodation and preventative intervention for young people at risk of being remanded and support package for them and their wider 
family and friends 

3. Multi-agency training and support package for the workforce 

• Identified leads for each area of the programme and working on timescales for each area of works. 
 

Our Next Steps are:  

• Establish the Turning the Curve Steering Group and commence delivery of the programme. 
 

P
age 21



16 
 

Improving the lives of children and young people who are in care and leaving care  
 
The Trust is committed to establishing permanence and stability for all our children in care at the earliest opportunity.  Our children in care service has been 
working on practice to improve the below areas.  Our data is telling us that we are slowing improving stability and timeliness of reviews are being undertake 
and there is further work underway to improve the recording of visits to our children. 
 

How will we know we have been successful? What 
good 

looks like 

Jul 23 Aug 23 Sept 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 

Improved stability – decrease in % of children with 3 or more placements in 
year 

Low 7% 9% 10% 9% 8% 8% 

Increase % of children who have all their visits carried out according to 
timescale (month) 

High 82% 84% 82% 84% 82% 80% 

Increase % of reviews carried out on time in the month High 99% 96% 95% 94% 96% 97% 

 
Establish a Placements Review Panel  
Panel has now been established. 

 

How will we know we have been successful? What 
good 

looks like 

Jul 23 Aug 23 Sept 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 

Increase in the number of children returning safely home High 5 18 16 8 12 11 

% children ceasing care made subject to a Special Guardianship Order High 14% 19% 20% 21% 23% 22% 

Number of children in a Purchased Residential Placement at month end Low 156 190 196 203 208 209 

 
Children in care and care leavers Corporate Parenting Strategy and Action plan is developed and implemented; and  
Corporate Parenting Panel provides robust governance for the Corporate Parenting Strategy and Plan  
Develop and implement Training and development programme for Elected Members to bolster strategic support and challenge 
Within this reporting period: 

• The Children and Young People’s Strategy ( 2023 to 2025) has been finalised and published online which sets out 18 priorities  to ensure good outcomes 

for children and young people in the areas of education, physical and mental health, safe homes, places and communities and skills.  

• Work is being undertaken to map out the requirements of a programme for apprenticeships for care leavers. 

• Local Government Association (LGA) is planned in for a corporate parenting diagnostic peer review on 25th and 26th January 24 to identify areas of 
strength and areas for development, and this will inform areas of development as well as the Corporate Parenting Strategy and Action Plan. 

• A corporate parenting workshop was held on 5th December with partners to develop our ambitions for children in care and care leavers.  
 
 
 

P
age 22

https://www.bradford.gov.uk/children-young-people-and-families/reports-policies-projects-and-strategies/bradford-district-children-and-young-peoples-strategy/


17 
 

Our Next Steps are: 

• Establish a multi-agency process to produce a cross system Corporate Parenting Strategy that ensures the delivery of the shared and individual Corporate 
Parenting Objectives agreed by the Council Senior Leadership Team, and all services to have a Corporate Parenting Goal in their service. 

• Develop a Corporate Parenting Strategy with success measures and a reporting framework. 

• Carry out a self-assessment using the LGA Corporate Parenting tool/template, followed by a LGA identified peer diagnostic team (from another Local 
Authority) to carry out their evaluation on 25th and 26th January 24.  

• LGA and the Local Authority and partners agree and implement a training and development programme for Corporate Parenting Panel and other elected 
members based on the outcome of the peer diagnostic. 

 
Sufficiency Strategy is fit for purpose, iterative and responsive to change 
Within this reporting period: 

• BCFT established a Sufficiency Board in June 23 to develop and maintain the Bradford Placements Sufficiency Plan. 

• There are now sufficient resources identified to deliver on the Sufficiency Strategy and Plan due to changes within the Local Authority through the 
strengthening of the commissioning capacity allied to the establishment of the Trust Improvement Team. 

• Working to improve and increase the use of Friends and Family Foster Carers and increasing the use of Special Guardianship Orders (SGOs). 

• Ongoing examination of the adequacy and cost of placements through a Placement Review Panel process. 

• Working with partners (especially the ICB) regarding sharing costs and better supporting children in care. 

• One Adoption West Yorkshire (OAWY) is now picking up all non-agency adoption and inter-country adoption applications. 

• The Foster Carer Service Development Plan has a strong focus on recruitment and retention of foster carers with some early success and continuing 
plans for further work, improvement includes a marketing strategy focussing on recruiting more in house foster carers. 

• Phase one capital investment plan to improve our residential capacity linked to existing revenue costs for staffing is being implemented.  Our In-house 
residential provision is being modernised and better utilised, two homes closed for refurbishment and one closing and being replaced by a new home, in 
the process of being purchased. 

• Phase two is being scoped out  for recommendation of release of further capital funding. 

• Residential service is improving (has more homes and 5 are now rated good by Ofsted) and has become more stable. 

• Use of residential agency managers has significantly reduced and now all but 1 of the homes is being managed by BCFT employees. 

• All open homes are now full and there is better integration with wider services. 

• 2 homes due to close have now closed and are in the process of being returned to the Local Authority’s Estates Team 

• Augmented its placement team and a review have been undertaken regarding procurement and we continue to work well with the White Rose Framework 
Agreement. 

• Detailed review of the “market” (in house provision and purchased provision) has been undertaken and the report was presented to the Board in 
November 2023. Where appropriate the findings from the report will support the refresh of the 2022-2025 Placement and Sufficiency Strategy. 

• An application for all in house Supported Accommodation to be registered was made in October 23 as per the Post 16 Supported Accommodation 
provision new regulation process. 

 
 
 
 

P
age 23



18 
 

Our Next Steps are:  

• All existing children’s homes to be open, operational, and occupied by March and the new home by the autumn of 2024. 

• Develop and maintain the Bradford Placements Sufficiency Plan with a clear focus on family and community first that describes the needs of children 
looked after and care leavers in Bradford. 

• Develop a Commissioning Strategy which describes the approach to be taken to commission external placements.  

• Develop the proposal for joint commissioning between the children’s Trust, the Council and the NHS. 

• Review and refresh the existing sufficiency strategy. 

• Develop an updated sufficiency action plan. 

• Develop and implement phase 2 of residential and fostering provision 
 
Establish dedicated children in care and leaving care service – Complete  

 
Life Story platform to store all children and young people’s memories and memorabilia whilst throughout the journey in our care  
Our Next Steps are: 

• Identify the resources to implement and roll out the Life Story platform. 

• Develop the Project Action Plan to launch the Life Story platform. 
 
Systematically identify those children whose care orders can be discharged and take action to discharge where appropriate (ongoing)  
We are continuing to track long term Children in Care to identify those requiring discharge of their Care Orders to remain home and those progressing to 
Special Guardianship Orders with their connected or mainstream carer. 
 
There has been significant work in CIC with the following progressed since the start of the trust, with 133 children care period ending: 
 

• 57 were placed at home subject of Placement with Parent Regs  

• 37 children secured in their placement via an SGO both kinship and mainstream carer 

• 39 children have been adopted  
 
The trust set a target this year of 111, including those children who progress to adoption. The target has been exceeded with a further 27 before the court. 
 
Transition work to adult services for those who need them is timely and managed jointly by adults and children’s services  
Within this reporting period: 

• Continued to embed Eco-Map Assessment Tool across the service as part of an overall programme to ensure consistency and support the identification of 
helpful networks for young people as and when they leave care, this would be updated every 6 months. 

• Established Accommodation task and finish group with housing with discussions ongoing with commissioning and adult services to focus on reducing the 
number of young people in unsuitable accommodation, to date, we have seen 6% reduction from last year. 

• Implemented monthly sessions for our young people delivered by Skills House, Careers Guidance Service which offers careers advice, application forms, 
CV writing, support with interview skills, accessing the right course, finding an apprenticeship, securing employment and accessing higher education.   

P
age 24



19 
 

• Skilled up workforce to support young people transitioning to adulthood, including PA’s who hold a Level 2 CACHE Certificate in Information, Advice and 
Guidance and a worker who sits within the DWP offices each week to support those young people accessing benefits to access education, employment or 
training, working closely with DWP in doing this. 
 

Our Next Steps are:  

• Complete a targeted audit of the quality of Pathway Plans, which will include the use of the Eco Map Assessment Tool to better understand the quality of 
planning for young people and inform a training programme for social workers and personal advisors that will be rolled out in early 2024 .  We are looking 
for whether plans are aspirational, whether they are effective in relation to preparedness for independence and whether young people are clear about their 
destination at 18 years. 

• Develop an Independence Skills Programme (currently exploring certified ASDAN Programme or develop our own). 
 

Joint Housing Protocol for care leavers is agreed, approved and operational  
Joint Housing Protocol is in situ and positively mentioned as part of DfE report whom we gained support from.  All other areas of placements and 
accommodation is running through the sufficiency board. 
 
Improved access to mental health support  
Within this reporting period: 

• BCFT representative attended Pillar 3 of the health improvement strand which has focus on mental health services, further involvement is to be 
established with the permanent appointment of the head of service within children in care and leaving care. 

• The Service Manager and Principle Social Worker have reviewed well-being tools (including mindfulness and social prescribing) to ensure best use for our 
care leavers and there is a 5 monthly cycle in place to review as well as monthly audits which commenced in January 24. 

 

Our Next Steps are:  

• Develop further plan of improvement following the audit findings and feed into Pillar 3 of the health improvement strand. 
 
District wide approach to increasing work-related opportunities for Care Leavers to ensure they are in education, employment, or training   
Within this reporting period: 

• Apprenticeships is key focus within the Corporate Parenting Plan to increase opportunities for our young people leaving care.  This is being driven, the 
barriers to accessing these is maths and English as a prerequisite and so the focus is to enable care leavers to achieve functional skills/maths and English 
to gain access to apprenticeships. 

• Implemented the delegation portal for the completion of personal education plans (PEP’s) in October 2023, this allows school to access, which speeds up 
the process of inputting and sharing information. 

• Additional capacity to support the PEP process has been allocated through increased Virtual School staffing with a training, coaching, and modelling 
programme in place to support schools and social care colleagues with the new processes from September 2023. 

• Additional quality assurance process is being undertaken for every PEP by the Virtual School and feedback is provided. 
 
 
 

P
age 25



20 
 

Our Next Steps are  

• Establish a monthly panel to consider each child on the edge of exclusion and not receiving 25 hours education to ensure that they have a plan that 
addresses risks associated with exclusion or a clear trajectory back into education. 

 

How will we know we have been successful? What good 
looks like 

Jul 23 Aug 23 Sept 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 

Increase % of young people in education, employment, or training High 66% 61.3% 62.8% 62.5% 64.0% 64.9% 

Increase % of young people in suitable accommodation  High 93% 92.3% 93.2% 93.5% 94.3% 94.4% 

Increase % of young people in touch High 58% 69.1% 68.6% 62.9% 57.1% 55.7% 

 
Set up of the Independent Fostering Agency (IFA) and preparation for inspection framework due 7 to 10 months post establishment  
Within this reporting period: 

• All foster carers were  re-registered at fostering panel in 2023 as part of the IFA set up. 

• Locality based foster carers groups have been established in the 4 locality areas and each operates once a month and one evening every 3 months. 

• Appointed learning and development officer who will be responsible for the training calendar and delivery of face-to-face training for carers.  

• Trained 18 Therapeutic Crisis Intervention Train the Trainers of 13 staff and 5 foster carers.  

• Launched 2 mockingbird constellations with a third being planned for launch in December and a further two for 2024. 

• SGO policy developed and presented to executive leadership team, further work underway looking at financial impact. 

• Appointed business analyst to ensure we have accurate reportable data required. 

• Appointed an additional service manager who will act as Agency Decision Maker, nominated officer for approval of Regulation 24/25 placements.  

• Fostering work is now electronically built into the system to ensure consistency and accurate compliance reporting 

• Appointed an enrichment officer who has been focusing on enrichment activity for foster carers and children. 

• First monitoring visit has been undertaken by Ofsted and feedback has been positive that we know ourselves and areas we need to work on.  The letter 
outlined a requirement of ‘The registered person should ensure timely schedule 7 notifications and provide an update to any linked section 47 
investigations at conclusion’ – this has been completed within timescale of 31st December.  The areas of recommendation include the below which have 
all been incorporated within the service improvement plan: 

o The registered person should ensure that foster carers receive sufficient training on health and hygiene issues and first aid, with particular 
emphasis on health promotion and communicable diseases. 

o The registered person should ensure that all foster carers, including all members of a household who are approved foster carers, are supported to 
achieve the children’s workforce development council’s training, support and development standards for foster care. Short-break carers who are 
approved foster carers should be supported to achieve the training support and development standards for short-break carers. Family and friends 
foster carers should be supported to achieve the training, support and development standards for family and friends foster carers.  

o The registered person should ensure that where a family and friends foster carer is temporarily approved as a foster carer under regulation 24 of 
the Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010, a full assessment is carried out as soon as practicable, where the 
intention is for the child to stay with the carer, and always within the statutory time frame set out in the regulations. 
 

 
 

P
age 26



21 
 

Our Next Steps are: 

• Continue to deliver on the Service Plan for the fostering service, including areas highlighted within the Ofsted Fostering Monitoring Visit Letter. 

• Recruitment of permanent Head of Service and management team. 
 

How will we know we have been successful? What good 
looks like 

Jul 23 Aug 23 Sept 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 

Increase % of Foster Carers with up-to-date review High 27% 30% 36% 32% 28% 

Increase % of up-to-date supervision with Foster Carers High 50% 46% 74% 775 85% 

Increase in the number of applications to become a Foster Carer High 63 78 75 75 48 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 27



22 
 

Improving the lives of children and young people by ensuring they have a voice and influence  
 
Strengthen the three forums for children in care and care leavers including more structured approach to working with the Corporate Parenting Panel 
Within this reporting period: 

• In August we successfully appointed to new Participation Co-ordinator within the Trust and is building relationships with our children and young people. 

• Chat Back sessions continue to be held with themes chosen by our children and young people, in January the theme is personal safety, youth justice 
service and community police.   

• Attended the Corporate Parenting event on 5th December to improve networks and to contribute to development of the corporate parenting panel 

• A slight increase in participation of young people in the forums 

• We successfully facilitated Youth Service Ambassador role applications and one of our Care Leavers, who is due to cease attending the Forums this year 
as she has reached 25, was successful in obtaining this. 

• The Participation Service now attends the Bradford Youth Voice Practitioners Meeting regularly to ensure inclusion in wider development. 

• We have, and continue to build, relationships with Fostering, ASYE Academy and Virtual School to help with partnership work. 
 
Our Next Steps are: 

• Develop further joint planning with the Corporate Parenting Panel from findings of the corporate parenting diagnostic taking place January 24. 

• To establish improved oversight and implementation of the takeaway tasks within the Trust and our partner agencies. 
• Young Voice still needs a way to improve, however, working closely with the Fostering Service should help this area once the regular forums are running 

as well as they can. 
 

Establish a digital mechanism to routinely communicate with, seek feedback from all children in care and care leavers and provide information outcomes. 
Within this reporting period: 

• Mind of My Own is live for our children and young people to use with monthly meetings taking place to understand children and young people and social 
workers are advertising and utilising the platform. 

• Developing a Shout survey to obtain feedback from children and young people about how they would like to be communicated with. 

• We continue with sending out a quarterly newsletter which highlights the service and developments. 
 
Our Next Steps are: 

• Continue to promote the use of Mind of My Own 

• Utilise the Shout Element of the Mind of My Own App which offers three surveys a year. 

Establish consistent and routine approach to Exit Interviews for Care Leavers 
Our Next Steps are: 

• Implement the Exit Interview into LCS with links to reporting mechanisms to monitor performance and quality. 

• Develop a quarterly report to feedback the findings from care leavers to further inform service improvement and delivery. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 28



23 
 

How will we know we have been successful? What good 
looks like 

Quarter 2 
July to September 

Quarter 3 
Oct - Dec 

Increase % in participation with children and young people (breakdown below) High 111 117 to date 

• Your Voice attendance 55 36 

• Youth Voice attendance 26 49 

• Young people attendance at Corporate Parenting Panel 12 No CPP till Jan 24 

• Number of care leavers offered exit interviews 11 26 

• Child and young person led interview panels 7 6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 29



24 
 

Strategic Leadership ensuring the conditions for success are created  
 
Establish the Bradford Children and Families Trust, and senior leadership team  
Within this reporting period: 

• Successfully recruited to three of the four social care Assistant Director (AD) posts.  The Safeguarding, QA and Learning and Development AD is already 
in post, the Early Help and Transformation AD commences at the end of January 24 and the Corporate Parenting AD commences early February 24.  

 
Our Next Steps are: 

• Complete the recruitment process for the final Assistant Directors for social care. 
 
Develop an improvement team to ensure inspection readiness and relentless focus on improvement.  
Within this reporting period: 

• Successfully recruited to posts in the team. 
 
Develop a district wide and multi-agency approach to co-production, voice and influence for children, young people and parent carers.  
The Improvement Board continues to pick up and discuss areas of work with operational improvements being delegated to the newly establish Multi-Agency 
Improvement Development Board.  Additionally, there are structured forums to discuss live issues with key partners such as Police and Health. 
 
Maximise staff engagement through a range of approaches 
The Trust continues to hold weekly all staff calls, and Monthly joint Local Authority and Trust drop-in sessions.  The Trust also continues to send out weekly 
newsletters, hold a  regular Staff Reference Group, send out staff surveys and undertake engagement sessions, such as around the business plan and 
values. 
 
Our Next Steps are: 

• Launch the Business Plan with the Trust workforce. 

• Develop the associated service plans in line with the Business Plan and share across the workforce. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 30



25 
 

A sufficient and stable workforce  
 
An ongoing high quality recruitment campaign that builds on the Bring Heart brand and provides an excellent on-boarding experience 
Within this reporting period: 

• Focusing on social media platforms and encouraging colleagues to repost articles and job adverts is starting to gain some traction and improving the 
candidate experience through early contact with potential candidates and simple processes 

• Launched the ‘job’ section of our Linked-In account, with three roles on there permanently – social worker, team leader and service manager. 

• Recruitment process reviewed and guidance provided to recruiting managers. 

• Continue to hold targeted conversations with our agency colleagues about permanent roles 

• Strengthen the relationship with agency providers ahead of a contract retendering process 
 

Our next steps are 

• Review and plan for a new recruitment Campaign in 2024 to refresh current approach (planned for March) 

• Improve the candidate experience with key roles being handled personally by the new recruitment team 

• Reviewing our core offer and looking for ways to enhance the employment/development offer, together with focusing on more flexible ways of working 
 
Implementing International Recruitment  
Our next steps are: 

• The final appointments are being made and inducted 

• Review the impact once fully implemented and assess the potential to repeat 
 
Working with local universities to increase number of social workplaces and develop and implement proposals to attract those students to work in Bradford –  

• Successful workforce members have commenced their MA programme at Bradford University. 

• Developing a workforce plan that focuses on growing our own as part of the Trust’s new People and Culture Strategy. 
 

How will we know we have been successful? What good 
looks like 

First 8 months of the Trust (April to November 23) 

Increase in the number of new starters High 47 New Starters 

• 2 Service Managers, 3 Practice Supervisors, 17 Social Workers Level 3 

• 7 Social Workers Level 2, 18 ASYE 

Decrease in the number of leavers Low 40 Leavers 

• 1 Service Manager, 8 Team Managers, 3 Practice Supervisors, 11 Social Workers 
Level 3, 14 Social Workers Level 2, 3 ASYE 

 
 
 
 

P
age 31



26 
 

A constant focus on practice improvement and agreed practice model  
 
Implement Restorative Practice training and development programme and capacity to embed restorative practices.  
Within this reporting period: 

• Leeds Relational Practice Centre continue to deliver their Restorative and Relational Practice programme with senior leaders as well as in some discrete 
areas of the Trust such as child protection and independent reviewing. 

• Plans have been made to roll out Restorative and Relational Practice introduction sessions  to the Trust workforce and partners beginning February 2024. 

• A bespoke program is being provided for all middle managers in social care focusing on relational and restorative approaches to working with children 
young people and their families-to begin January 2024. 

 
Our Next Steps are: 

• Introduce restorative and relational approached to partners jointly with the Bradford Safeguarding Partnership via a partnership development day in 2024. 

Increase shared multi-agency workforce development opportunities e.g., Trauma Informed Practice, Professional Curiosity etc.   
Within this reporting period: 

• From November, the trust commenced delivery of the six obsessions (case recording, case summary, chronologies, voice of the child, effective working 
relationships with parents, carers and professionals and assessments) which then informs focused areas of discussions with partners in the Multi-Agency 
Improvement Development group – this will be repeat until it is fully embedded in daily practice and our audits tell us practice is good in the area. 

• Updated the Learning and Development Prospectus to include training offered by the safeguarding partnership. 

• Ran a number of multi-agency training sessions which includes Trauma Informed Practice, Professional Curiosity and Perplexing Presentations and 
nonmobile babies. 

 
Develop additional Academy Faculties for specific social care roles.  
Within this reporting period: 

• Business Support Academy has made significant progress and is developing progression and career paths which include ‘grow your own’ for those that are 
interested in progressing into a social care career. 

• The Leadership Academy has mapped out modules for all new managers/leaders and they will be linked to the Academy on employment. 
 
Our Next Steps are: 

• Commence further Academies in 2024 for Community Resource Worker, Social Worker and Practice Supervisors (current recruitment campaign 
underway). 

 
Increase presence of social work specialists on social work courses as part of Teaching Partnership  
Within this reporting period: 

• Through the Teaching Partnership there is a steering group which looks at the increased involvement of practitioners from the Trust jointly delivering 
teaching to social work students so that this is embedded in our joint working practices. The Principal Social worker and practitioners from the Learning 
and Development service are regularly involved in relevant lectures/activities and some of our most experienced practitioners have also been asked to be 
guest speakers.    

P
age 32



27 
 

• Whilst the involvement of practitioners at the Trust is more developed with the University, participation has become more regular with the College also; the 
College are part of the steering group so there will be a shared approach to joint lecture opportunities.  Involvement from the Trust in social work lectures 
ensures that there is a link between the social work theory and how this links to practice. 

• Practitioners continue to be part of the social work admission interviews for the University and College; this is embedded in practice. 

• Our Young people have been involved in the admission of our apprenticeship and MA students as an employer led process, but we also want to see more 
increased use of young people on all social work admission interviews and the Teaching Partnership, of which all parties are part of, is committed to this. 

• The new Participation Co-ordinator has been in role for some time now and is committed to young people having more involvement in the internal 
recruitment process through young person interview panels and, in the social work admission process. 

• The new audit process has been in place for the past 2 months; this encourages auditors to involve children, young people, and their parent/carer to have 
more involvement with the audit process; there is an expectation that the auditor will speak to them about their experiences of receiving a service from the 
Trust. 

• Participation co-ordinator has linked in with the team and met with Teaching Partnership to look at how we can work together to include our children and 
young people more in our practice development. 

 
Our Next Steps are: 

• Consider the recommendation to involve children and young people in all social work recruitment activity including social work admission. 
 
Implement an approach to ensuring workforce development opportunities taken up where required and identified.  
These are picked up within all workstreams where a Learning and Development Service is represented on each. 
 
The quality and effectiveness of supervision to staff at all levels by managers and leaders  
Within this reporting period: 

• Leeds Relational Practice Centre continue to deliver their Management Oversight and Reflective Supervision programme to Team Managers. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 33



28 
 

Strong collaborative partnership  
 
Establish Bradford Children’s Improvement Board and develop a quality Improvement Plan  
The Improvement Board continues to run and is chaired by Steve Walker, commissioner.  Recent Improvement Boards have been focusing on the turning the  
curve programme and sufficiency. 
 
Establish multi-agency platforms for joint working and practice improvement  
Multi-agency Improvement Development Group (MAID) continues to run and is chaired by the Chair of the Bradford Safeguarding Board, recent focuses have 
been around:  

• Further embedding the conversations-based approach along with partners 

• Strengthening strategy meetings 

• Crime reporting relating to children 

• Serious Youth Violence 

• Inspection preparation 
 
We continue to forward plan on the areas of improvement work and we have put forward the below which have been accepted by the group: 

• Multi-agency attendance and report submission to child in need meetings, core groups and child protection meetings 

• Raising awareness of Private Fostering 
 
We continue to hold 3 weekly meetings with key partners such as Police and Health to resolve live issues. 
 
Address the local recommendations from the National Panel review report. 
The recommendations and actions identified from the Practice Review have been embedded into the improvement plan. The learning has been shared across 
the service and the impact will be scrutinised and reviewed as part of the Children’s Safeguarding Performance subgroup. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 34



29 
 

Buildings, IT, HR, Finance, Business Support and equipment that support quality practice 
 
Agreeing and implementing refreshed and tailored support arrangements for HR, IT, Finance, Business Support, IG, and Commissioning. 
implementing a workforce development approach for managers for HR, IT, Finance, Information Governance etc. 
Currently under review, planning and development under the new Trust arrangements. 
 
Identifying opportunities for co-location of multi-agency services for families e.g., early help with social work and other partners where possible. 
Ensuring that Children’s social care office bases are child and family friendly and in locations that promote multi-disciplinary workings. 
Discussions continue with estates around identifying suitable accommodation in the localities for East and South. 
 
Securing suitable Business Support Services and Support capacity to ensure key processes are met, particularly those that are statutory. 
Within this reporting period: 

• Recruitment – Business Support have recently completed an 8-week recruitment drive to provide a stable workforce and improve wrap around support 
services. We have been successful in recruiting to 32 business support posts including Senior Business Support Officers, Childrens Advisors, Specialist 
Minute Takers, Finance Officers, Business Support Officers, and Personal Assistants. 

• Development and launch of Business Support Academy – The  Academy offers a positive and strong induction into statutory children’s services, becoming 
part of a culture in which, you are valued, respected, recognised, listened to, supported, and developed. We aim to grow our own talent pool and harness 
knowledge and experience whilst ensuring robust service specific support services across the trust. 

• All 32 new recruits have now successfully completed the first business support academy cohort December 2023 in partnership with learning and 
development. 

• Induction – Reviewing and redeveloping the induction process with dedicated business support pathway in relation to processes and systems aiding 
service improvements, particularly within the early help arena and in the completion of mandatory training  

• Training and Development – Investing in continuous professional and personal development programme to help fulfil staff potential. The BS academy 
builds on expertise, best practice, and recent improvements and to give further opportunity we have increased our mandatory/CPD training matrix for 
Q3/Q4 to deliver a programme across business support workstreams to include both service wide and individual continued progression pathways: 

• Coaching, Leadership and Management, Customer Service Accredited Training in partnership with Shipley College and Digital Training Eagles in 
Partnership with Barclays.  All business staff have undertaken workshops on key topics including Early Help, Prevention and Transformation, Start for Life, 
FYI. 

• Financial Sustainability – Increased BSO resource for reviewing high-cost finances; external placements for individual children; transport, S17.  

• Improved Commissioning & Contract Management process in conjunction with Procurement Lead implemented Contracts Panel and progress Trust 
Contract Standing Orders (CSO’s) ensuring robust scheme of delegation and increased financial sustainability. Six-month programme Q3/Q4 has 
commenced with training rolled out and completed Oct 23 for all BS managers and finance officers involved in the cycle. 

 
Our Next Steps are: 

• Financial Strategy 
o Increased BSO resource to support scheme of delegation, further develop mechanisms to monitor spend and savings in line with trusts 

overarching aim to ensure resources are adequate to support outcomes for children and families. 
o Continued support for focus on Placements with smarter and more effective systems, process and decision making. 

P
age 35



30 
 

o Review of P-card holders and assessment of spend levels aligned to SoD 
o Supporting focused and effective commissioning and procurement 
o Mapping processes across organisation to evidence compliance with financial controls: 

• Training and Development – Continue to deliver Q4 programme across business support with Advanced Minute Taking, Trauma Induced Training and 
Adult Mental Health First Aid already planned Jan/Feb 24 

• Performance – Progress performance metrics across Business Support including workflow system within LCS and quality assurance measures 

• Wellbeing and Resilience – Further develop our wellbeing offer within Business Support with increased wellbeing champions, training and opportunity for 
mindfulness services, 

• Communication and Engagement – Build on effective communication and engagement mechanisms offering a safe space for colleagues to be open and 
honest, bring ideas/feedback to support improvements and share as much information as we can as early as possible.  

 
Promoting staff wellbeing and emotional support. 
Within this reporting period: 

• Over a hundred staff have participated in the Mindfulness sessions to aid reduction of stress; enhance self-care, compassion, and wellbeing; manage 
emotions; increase compassionate framings of families in challenging situations; and increase reflection and reflexivity. 

• Positive feedback has been received including: 
o 96% stating that their ability to manage stressful or difficult situations is somewhat or much better – 41% stating much better 
o 91% stating their ability to concentrate somewhat or much better 
o At three month follow up, 89% (n37) reported higher levels of positive affect and 67% of staff reported lower levels of negative affect  
o 84% (n51) reported lower levels of stress following the course. 51% had improved from high > mod or mod > low.  
o 100% would recommend the course to colleagues 
o 97% said the course gave them something of lasting value 
o 83% felt the length of the course was just about right/14% felt too short 
o 96% would find refresher sessions helpful 
o Consistently positive feedback on approach of the teacher – in context of ‘in-house’ delivery model 

 
Our Next Steps are: 

• Build a Champion network 

• Introduce Mindfulness, leadership, and emotional intelligence module 

• Hold a Winter Wellbeing gathering 

• Pilot team mindfulness approach 

• Explore the development and delivery of a foster carer course 
 
The below areas are to be scoped out and planned into at the end of 2023 / start of 2024 
Engaging staff in reviewing and reducing bureaucratic burdens that get in the way of social work with families.  
Children’s Portal utilised to its full potential 
Delegation Portal utilised to its full potential across the partnership 
 

P
age 36



31 
 

Insight – learning and improving through performance manage and quality assurance  
 
Ensure the quality of audits through follow up on recommendations and sharing learning in teams.  
Within this reporting period: 

• Since August 23, audits are now completed directly on the child’s record and includes feedback from children and families. 

• Delivered training and promote compliance with managers to better inform recommendations and shared learning. 

• A quarterly QA and learning report has been developed. 

• Common threads have been identified and these have formed the thematic audit framework that commenced in September 23 to include: 
o Children are seen 
o Safety arrangements are in place 
o Children have an up-to-date assessment  
o Children have a plan  
o Children’s plans are reviewed  
o Children’s voices are influencing their plans 
o Supervision is reflective and of good quality  
o Decision making and evidencing practice  

• The above also links to the 6 obsessions that also launched in September 23 to include: 
o Case Recording  
o Case Summaries  
o Chronologies  
o Voice of the Child  
o Effective working relationships with parents, carers and professionals  
o The importance of working relationships with our colleagues in various agencies to support children and families to be safe and well.  
o Assessments  
 

Our Next Steps are: 

• Continue to review and strengthen the auditing process to enable improved engagement to increase the number of audits returned but also to reflect on 
how learning is shared and cascaded so that the wider workforce is able to understand what is happening and why this is important for learning and 
development. This includes reviewing the audit report format through a restorative approach to support high support and high challenge. 

• Strengthen and widen the moderation process to include newly appointed Assistant Directors in the Trust.  

• Develop learning circles and the quality assurance activity outside of the monthly auditing arrangements to strengthen and drive engagement. 
 

How will we know we have been successful? What good 
looks like 

Jul 23 Aug 23 Sept 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 

Increase in the number of audits completed  High 26 15 24 24 23 11 

Decrease in the number of Inadequate audits Low 11 1 7 5 4 5 

Decrease in grade change at moderation Low 16.67% 63% 60% 43% 63% 18.18% 

 

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

   

22 August 2023 

Marium Haque 
Strategic Director, Children’s Services 
Margaret McMillan Tower 
Princes Way 
Bradford 
BD1 1NN 
 
cc. Charlotte Ramsden, Chief Executive Officer, Bradford Children and Families Trust. 

 
Dear Marium 

Monitoring visit to Bradford children and families trust. 

This letter summarises the findings of the monitoring visit to Bradford Children and 
Families Trust on 18 and 19 July 2023. This was the first monitoring visit since 
Bradford children’s services was judged inadequate in January 2023, and the ninth 
monitoring visit since Bradford Children’s Services was judged inadequate in 2018. 
Bradford children’s services transferred to Bradford children and families trust on 1 
April 2023, and this is the first monitoring visit under the new arrangements. His 
Majesty’s Inspectors (HMI(s)) for this visit were Matt Reed and Louise Hollick. 
Michelle Edge, HMI, acted as supernumerary for this visit. 

Areas covered by the visit. 

Inspectors reviewed the progress made in the following areas of concern identified at 
the last inspection: 

◼ The integrated front door (IFD) and initial response to safeguarding and child in 
need requests for children. 

◼ Assessment and planning in the duty and assessment teams. 

◼ Local authority designated officer (LADO) response to allegations against people 
who work with children. 

This visit was carried out in line with the inspection of local authority children’s 
services (ILACS) framework, inspectors were primarily on site. 

Headline findings  

Since the last inspection, Bradford local authority have voluntarily transferred 

responsibility for children’s services to Bradford Children and Families. Senior leaders 

in both the local authority and the trust have worked together to minimise disruption 

for staff during this time. Overall, staff are positive about the change, and they 

Ofsted  
Piccadilly Gate  
Store Street 
Manchester 
M1 2WD 

 

T 0300 123 1231 
Textphone 0161 618 8524 
enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 

www.gov.uk/ofsted  

 

 

Page 39

http://www.gov.uk/ofsted


 

 

 

2 

 

recognise that there have been some improvements and greater engagement with 

the staff. It remains early days for the Trust to have had a significant impact on the 

quality of services for all children. The response to concerns at the integrated front 

door have continued to improve since the last inspection. The conversational 

approach to receiving new referrals has been further embedded, and this is assisting 

in most children receiving an appropriate and timely response to their needs. The 

IFD continues to receive a high number of Police Protection Notices (PPNs) which 

have not been triaged by the police, placing undue pressure on the IFD, and a joint 

solution is needed. There remain inconsistencies in the assessment and planning for 

children once work leaves the front door. For some children, this has led to delays in 

multi-agency plans being formulated. The LADO service provides an appropriate and 

timely response to allegations against professionals who work with children. 

Findings and evaluation of progress 

Since the last inspection, there have been improvements in the response to initial 

contacts and referrals received at the IFD. The conversations-based approach to 

receiving contact and referrals, initially introduced just prior to the last inspection, is 

now more embedded. This is having a positive impact on the understanding of 

concerns for children and the outcomes agreed. Social workers consistently make 

efforts to inform referrers of the outcome of referrals, and this is promoting more 

effective working relationships between partner agencies. A weekly referral meeting, 

in which data and the quality of referrals are considered, is further assisting the 

improvement of work in the IFD. 

Social workers complete detailed checks to inform decision-making. Previous history 

and involvement with families are considered during initial screening, and there are 

consistent efforts to speak with parents. Social workers understand the need for 

parental consent, and this is obtained wherever possible. When needed, parental 

consent is dispensed with, and, in most referrals, this is appropriate and clearly 

recorded. This prevents delay in responses when safeguarding concerns are raised.  

There are some children who have been subject to repeat referrals. In all children’s 

cases seen, the legacy of poor practice was evident, with failed interventions, overly 

optimistic assessments, and premature closure. Some children are now re-opened to 

children’s services and more recent responses to referrals are meeting the children’s 

assessed needs. 

The responses to concerns out of hours have been strengthened with a dedicated 

emergency duty team (EDT) for children. Managers in the IFD are alerted to new 

referrals via the electronic recording system and email. The team manager effectively 

triages the referrals received out of hours and at weekends to ensure there are no 

delays in daytime responses.  

 

Page 40



 

 

 

3 

 

The conversations-based approach has assisted in developing more effective working 

relationships with some partner agencies, but collaborative responses to domestic 

abuse concerns need to be strengthened. The IFD receive a high level of PPNs from 

the police which are emailed, with limited police assessment of risk for children. Not 

all PPNs are of a high quality and the outcome of police attendance is not always 

clear. Practice supervisors and managers spend a lot of time filtering information 

from PPNs to enable a prioritisation of response due to a lack of initial police triaging. 

Although they do this effectively, the system is inefficient, and the sheer volume of 

emails increases the risk of concerns for children being overlooked and delays in 

response. The daily risk assessment meeting, in relation to domestic abuse 

notifications observed by inspectors, was adult focused and did not add to the overall 

safety planning and risk management for children. 

Managers’ oversight and decision-making in the IFD is timely and appropriate. 

Managers clearly record direction they give to social workers at the point of contact, 

and there is clear rationale for decisions. Thresholds are being appropriately applied 

to ensure that children are directed to the right level of service at the earliest 

opportunity. 

When children require a safeguarding response, decisions to convene strategy 

meetings and progress to child protection enquiries are timely. Children are 

transferred without delay to the assessment and duty teams. Strategy meetings are 

attended by the relevant professionals, who share appropriate information to inform 

decision-making. However, despite the outcome to progress to child protection 

enquiry being clearly recorded, specific actions from the strategy meeting could be 

more evident. The subsequent child protection enquiries focus on presenting risk; 

children are seen, and their views obtained. Family members are included, and 

consideration is given to how extended family can offer support. The records of the 

child protection enquiries vary in the level of detail and analysis of risk, but this did 

not affect the outcome, which, for most children, is appropriate. 

When child protection enquiries result in children needing to enter child protection 

processes, not all children progress to initial child protection conference (ICPC) in a 

timely way. The oversight of children waiting to be discussed at ICPC is not 

consistent. Some children received additional visits with clear management oversight, 

but this was not the case for all. For others, there is no increase in visiting and a lack 

of clear management oversight, to provide assurance that children were not at 

increased risk. Although no children were found to be at immediate risk, there have 

been delays in effective multi-agency planning for these children. Senior leaders 

have identified this as an area of concern through performance management. 

Measures have been put in place, and performance is improving, with a clear 

acknowledgement by senior leaders that more improvement is required. 

The work within the assessment and duty teams is not as consistently strong and 

there remain inconsistencies in the quality of assessments and management 

Page 41



 

 

 

4 

 

oversight. There have been improvements to more recent work, but not all 

assessments are leading to timely multi-agency plans and interventions to support 

children, although some are detailed and include the child’s voice and influence. 

Some assessments are overly descriptive and lack analysis of children’s presenting 

needs. The views of children are not routinely captured, and when they are, it is not 

clear how they are influencing planning. Where assessments are delayed, 

management oversight does not give a clear indication of why or what services are 

in place to support families while assessments are ongoing. This results in families 

not receiving the right level of support at the earliest opportunity.  

Safety plans are routinely devised with families, but it is not clear how actions in the 

plan offer additional safeguards to children. Many safety plans place the onus on 

vulnerable parents to make immediate changes to longstanding behaviours, which 

previously they have been unable to do. As a result, safety plans are not robust and 

do not give assurance that children are safeguarded to a greater degree. 

In one locality, there has been a brief period, during increased demand and staff 

shortages, in which some children have not had an allocated worker. This matter has 

been resolved, and all children now have an allocated social worker. During this time, 

although the children were seen by duty social workers, there was a delay in plans to 

meet the children’s needs. 

When allegations are made people who work with children, the local authority 

designated officer (LADO) responses are timely and appropriate. In those cases 

seen, the decision-making was clear and LADOs maintained effective oversight of the 

progression of investigations. The LADOs are monitoring trends and outcomes of 

referrals from children’s homes, and where additional training or advice is required, 

this is provided. The outcomes of these referrals are reviewed monthly to ensure 

that responses are appropriate.  

Senior leaders in the trust and the local authority have worked together to minimise 

the impact on staff during the transfer of responsibility to the trust. There is an 

expressed commitment to work together as everyone adapts to the new working 

relationship. The self-evaluation provided by the trust highlights that leaders are 

getting to grips with the practice issues and the scale of improvements needed. 

Senior leaders acknowledge that it will take some time before the legacy of poor 

practice is resolved. 

Auditing practice requires further development to assist leaders in identifying the 

improvements needed. New audit guidance has been developed but is too recent to 

have significantly impacted on audit activity. Compliance with audit completion is 

low, and leaders acknowledge that there remains ‘over optimism’ about what good 

practice looks like so as to enable the accurate identification of themes for practice 

improvement.  

Page 42



 

 

 

5 

 

Some social workers have high caseloads. This is monitored by managers and 

leaders, and overall caseloads are reducing. Most social workers considered their 

caseload to be manageable, and they believe they are having more time to complete 

assessments and support families. Recruitment and retention remain a priority for 

leaders in order to provide stability in the workforce and consistency for families. The 

increased social work capacity in one locality has been welcomed.  

Most social workers receive regular supervision, which they state helps them to 

reflect on practice and learning. However, the quality of recorded supervision is not 

consistent and is not always demonstrating clear direction to social workers, or 

providing challenge when tasks are not complete. Groups supervision is also 

available, which is providing additional opportunities to review children’s cases and 

improve learning from rapid reviews. 

Overall, social workers and managers in the IFD and assessment and duty teams 

were positive about the current situation. They acknowledge that there have been 

some improvements. Workers and managers are encouraged to attend a focus group 

and contribute to improvement work, which is assisting them to feel more valued. 

Workers report that managers are visible and supportive, they are consistent in their 

approach, and they encourage an open and supportive environment.  

I am copying this letter to the Department for Education.  

Yours sincerely 

Matt Reed 
Senior His Majesty’s Inspector 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

   

13 December 2023 

Marium Haque 
Strategic Director, Children’s Services 

Margaret McMillan Tower 
Princes Way 
Bradford 

BD1 1NN 
 

cc Charlotte Ramsden, Chief Executive Officer, Bradford Children and Families Trust 
  

Dear Marium 

Monitoring visit to Bradford children’s services 

This letter summarises the findings of the monitoring visit to Bradford children’s 
services on 8 and 9 November 2023. This was the second monitoring visit since the 

local authority was judged inadequate in January 2023, and the tenth monitoring 
visit since Bradford children’s services was judged inadequate in 2018. Bradford 

children’s services transferred to Bradford Children and Families Trust (the Trust) on 
1 April 2023. This is the second monitoring visit under the new arrangements. His 
Majesty’s inspectors for this visit were Matt Reed and Catherine Heron. 

Areas covered by the visit 

Inspectors reviewed the progress made in the following areas of concern identified at 

the last inspection: 

◼ Child in need and child protection planning. 

This visit was carried out in line with the inspection of local authority children’s 

services (ILACS) framework. Inspectors were primarily on site. 

Headline findings  

This visit focused on child in need assessment and planning and child protection 
practice. There are early signs of some improved practice in child in need and child 

protection work since the last inspection. A new practice model is being implemented 
but is not yet fully embedded. The long history of inadequate practice means there 
continue to be a very high number of children who are subject to statutory child in 

need and child protection plans, many unnecessarily so. This has also resulted in 
drift and delay for some children having their needs and risks identified and 

responded to in a timely way. The Trust has a detailed understanding of the issues 

Ofsted  
Piccadilly Gate  
Store Street 
Manchester 

M1 2WD 

 

T 0300 123 1231 

Textphone 0161 618 8524 
enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 
www.gov.uk/ofsted  

 

 

Page 45

http://www.gov.uk/ofsted


 

 

 

2 

 

that need improvement in this area of practice, which is enabling more targeted and 
recent improvement activity.  

Findings and evaluation of progress 
 

Senior leaders within the Trust, alongside those within the council, provided a very 

detailed self-evaluation of the current situation and future improvement plans for 

children in need and those subject to child protection planning. This mirrored what 

inspectors found during this visit. There are several new initiatives which are being 

implemented intended to improve practice and children’s experiences. Many of these 

initiatives are relatively new. Senior leaders acknowledge that these have yet to have 

a significant impact on wider practice.  

 

Improved performance data and quality assurance activity are providing leaders with 

a detailed understanding of practice quality. Thematic audits and dip sampling 

supplement case file audits, but case file audit completion rate is low. Social workers 

are not routinely involved in case audits, which limits their learning from this activity. 

It is acknowledged by senior leaders within the Trust that the quality assurance 

framework needs revisiting to ensure that it is contributing to practice improvement.  

 

There are a very high number of children subject to child in need and child 

protection plans. Historical and less effective assessment and planning has resulted 

in some children and families being subject to statutory child protection or child in 

need procedures when alternative and more proportionate plans could have been 

considered. The Trust is working with staff and partner agencies to redress this and 

ensure that where safe to do so, children are not subjected to unnecessary statutory 

processes. There has been very recent success with a small and safe reduction in the 

number of children on child protection plans.  

 

In most children’s cases seen during this visit, their needs are now being addressed 

at the appropriate level of intervention. However, inspectors did see the negative 

impact on children of previously poor practice and ineffective decision-making. Some 

children have been escalated prematurely to child protection processes and some 

children’s cases have closed too soon. This has resulted in children being subjected 

to multiple and unnecessary interventions. There continue to be children who are 

experiencing drift and delay in having their needs met effectively at the earliest 

opportunity. The Trust is well sighted on the issues. Leaders have begun to target 

resources to review children’s needs who are subject to statutory planning, and to 

strengthen management oversight at key decision-making points in children’s lives.  

 

There is evidence of some improved assessments, but this is not consistent across 

the children and families teams. Stronger assessments have used research and 

clearly link the initial concerns to the child’s current situation. Most are updated 

regularly and are detailed, but the analysis of need and risk does not always focus on 

the right things. The voice of the child is evident in assessments, but their views do 

Page 46



 

 

 

3 

 

not then influence their plans. While social workers visit children in line with their 

needs, not all visit records detail the purpose of the visit, nor the meaningful direct 

work that social workers articulate to inspectors is being done to progress the plan 

for the child. 

 

Children’s plans are reviewed at regular multi-agency meetings, but their 

effectiveness is undermined by their insufficient focus on how the need and risk will 

be addressed. Not all children’s plans are updated when their circumstances change, 

or to ensure that progress is being made within a timescale that is right for the child.  

 

Where appropriate, social workers are consulting with the child’s wider family 

network to help and support parents address the concerns identified by 

professionals. Children’s case file records evidence that for some children wider 

family support is being used to address concerns, although no formal family 

meetings were seen in children’s records to demonstrate how this support is 

coordinated or safely monitored. 

 

When safeguarding concerns arise, multi-agency strategy meetings are timely and 

are well attended by key professionals, who share relevant information to inform 

safeguarding decisions. The outcome of these meetings is not always well recorded. 

Minutes in some children’s records are overly detailed and do not demonstrate 

interim safety planning while child protection enquiries take place. The recording of 

subsequent child protection enquiries is brief, and not all records detail the work 

undertaken to safeguard children or analyse the level of risk to inform the required 

response.  

 

There has been improvement since the last inspection in the response to disabled 

children subject to child in need and child protection planning. Disabled children 

benefit from consistent, experienced workers who know them well. Disabled children 

are seen regularly and in line with their needs. This enables workers to have a good 

understanding of the children’s experiences. Workers monitor the risks to children 

and take appropriate action to ensure that disabled children are appropriately 

safeguarded. The professional networks around disabled children are effective. Well-

attended multi-agency meetings facilitate regular information-sharing and inform 

decision-making. Children’s plans are informed by thorough assessments but 

recorded plans vary in their quality and do not always articulate children’s progress 

well. Social workers understand the communication needs of disabled children, and 

when disabled children are non-verbal alternative methods of capturing children’s 

views are used. However, disabled children’s views, likes and dislikes are not a 

consistent feature in children’s plans to demonstrate how they have influenced their 

plans. 

 

Management oversight of child in need and child protection assessment and planning 

has improved since the last inspection and is in evidence on children’s case files. 

Formal case supervision is taking place regularly and social workers report this to be 

Page 47



 

 

 

4 

 

useful. Managers’ oversight of assessments is contributing towards improving 

assessment timeliness. While supervision and oversight of work is evident on 

children’s case files, it is brief and serves as a compliance check, rather than driving 

forward the child’s plan.  

 

Social workers reported positively about working for Bradford. They articulated 

feeling more settled, and better supported with their work. Managers are described 

as visible and available when needed. Some workers were able to discuss the wider 

vision of the Trust and what they described as the need to ‘get back to basics’ and 

‘do the simple things right’. All social workers spoke with knowledge about the 

children they are working with and the future plans for the child. 

I am copying this letter to the Department for Education.  

Yours sincerely 

Matt Reed 
His Majesty’s Inspector 

Page 48



 
 
 

 
 

   
Inspection report for independent fostering agencies - monitoring: Foster for Bradford, Bradford Children and Families Trust 

1 
 

 

 
 

Foster for Bradford, Bradford Children 
and Families Trust 
 
Bradford Metropolitan District Council, Sir Henry Mitchell House, 4 Manchester Road, 
Bradford BD5 0QL 
 
Monitoring visit 
 
Inspected under the social care common inspection framework 
 

Information about this independent fostering agency 

This independent fostering agency registered in April 2023 under a trust 
arrangement. The service operates from offices in Bradford. The manager also 
registered in April 2023. 
 
The agency undertakes the assessment, approval and supervision of foster carers 
who provide a wide range of placements to children and young people. This includes 
respite care, permanent, short-term and long-term placements, connected carers 
arrangements, PACE (Playfulness, Acceptance, Curiosity and Empathy) and ‘staying 
put’ arrangements.  
 
At the time of this visit, the fostering service had 542 approved foster carers 
providing placements for 717 children and young people.  
 
The inspector was aware during this visit of a serious incident concerning a child 
that had occurred. While Ofsted does not have the power to investigate incidents of 
this kind, actions taken by the registered provider in response to the incident were 
considered (where appropriate) alongside other evidence available at the time of the 
visit to inform the inspector’s judgements. 

Inspection date: 21 November 2023 

Date of previous inspection: not applicable 

This monitoring visit 

The purpose of this visit was to seek some assurances from the agency in relation to 
its response to several safeguarding notifications.  
 

Page 49



 
 
 

 
 

   
Inspection report for independent fostering agencies - monitoring: Foster for Bradford, Bradford Children and Families Trust 

2 
 

 

During this visit, the inspector spoke to the responsible individual, the registered 
manager, fostering manager, three fostering social workers, a foster carer, and a 
representative from the Bradford Independent Foster Care Association. No serious or 
widespread concerns were identified during this visit. 
 
The foster carers were previously approved by the City of Bradford Metropolitan 
District Council fostering service. Following the transfer of ownership from Bradford 
local authority to Bradford Children and Families Trust, all the existing foster carers 
were presented to the new agency’s fostering panel for approval. This process has 
provided the trust with independent scrutiny of the foster carers and their conditions 
of registration. When shortfalls are found, the trust ensures that each foster carer 
has an individual action plan. The fostering panel and agency managers have 
oversight of this to ensure that foster carers meet the necessary standards for 
continued approval. 
 
Not all foster carers have received the relevant training to meet the standards for 
foster care within the agreed time frame. Furthermore, some foster carers have not 
received refresher training, including first-aid training. However, those foster carers 
who are caring for children with additional health needs receive bespoke training and 
support from health professionals.  
 
Currently, foster carers only have access to online training. There is no system that 
allows managers oversight of the training needs of all their foster carers. The agency 
has recruited a learning and development officer for fostering. This person is not yet 
in post but has been appointed to address the shortfalls with foster carers’ training 
and development.  
 
Leaders and managers have implemented some new systems for monitoring and 
auditing purposes. This includes a spreadsheet with oversight of the timeliness of 
the assessment of foster carers. Family and friends foster carers are not currently 
presented to panel within the statutory timescales. To address this, the agency has 
recruited additional social workers to carry out these assessments. These staff are 
new in post and have not yet been able to have an impact on the backlog. 
 
Leaders and managers share any concerns about the agency’s foster carers with 
other safeguarding professionals. This provides a multi-agency approach to 
determine whether it is safe for children to remain with their current carers. Prompt 
action is taken for children to move to alternative carers, if appropriate.  
 
A multi-agency enquiry meeting has assisted the agency to identify any new learning 
following concerns raised about a foster carer. This has led to improvements with the 
management of allegations process. Staff and foster carers receive information 
about the action they should take if an allegation is made. Managers also meet bi-
monthly to track and monitor any allegations or concerns about the standard of 
care. 
 

Page 50



 
 
 

 
 

   
Inspection report for independent fostering agencies - monitoring: Foster for Bradford, Bradford Children and Families Trust 

3 
 

 

The managers have not always notified Ofsted of safeguarding concerns in a timely 
way. This includes not providing an update following a safeguarding investigation. To 
address this, the supervising social workers and foster carers receive guidance and 
training about their responsibilities. The provider has also adapted their computer 
recording system so that managers are alerted at an earlier stage to any serious 
incidents. It is too early to look at whether this has addressed the delay in notifying 
the regulator. 
 
Although shortfalls were found at this visit, the leaders and managers are already 
aware of these and have plans in place to address them.  
 

 
 

  

Page 51



 
 
 

 
 

   
Inspection report for independent fostering agencies - monitoring: Foster for Bradford, Bradford Children and Families Trust 

4 
 

 

 

What does the independent fostering agency need to do 
to improve? 

Statutory requirements 

This section sets out the actions that the registered person(s) must take to meet the 
Care Standards Act 2000, The Fostering Services (England) Regulations 2011 and 
the national minimum standards. The registered person(s) must comply with the 
given timescales. 

Requirement Due date 

If any of the events listed in column 1 of the table in 
Schedule 7 takes place in relation to a fostering agency, the 
registered person must without delay notify the persons or 
bodies indicated in respect of the event in column 2 of the 
table. In respect of updating following the conclusion of the 
S47 investigation. (Regulation 36 (1)) 

30 December 2023 

 

Recommendations 

◼ The registered person should ensure that foster carers receive sufficient training 
on health and hygiene issues and first aid, with particular emphasis on health 
promotion and communicable diseases. (‘Fostering services: national minimum 
standards’, 6.7) 

◼ The registered person should ensure that all foster carers, including all members 
of a household who are approved foster carers, are supported to achieve the 
children’s workforce development council’s training, support and development 
standards for foster care. Short-break carers who are approved foster carers 
should be supported to achieve the training support and development standards 
for short-break carers. Family and friends foster carers should be supported to 
achieve the training, support and development standards for family and friends 
foster carers. (‘Fostering services: national minimum standards’, 20.2) 

◼ The registered person should ensure that where a family and friends foster carer 
is temporarily approved as a foster carer under regulation 24 of the Care 
Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010, a full 
assessment is carried out as soon as practicable, where the intention is for the 
child to stay with the carer, and always within the statutory time frame set out in 
the regulations. (‘Fostering services: national minimum standards’, 30.14) 

 

Information about this inspection 
 
This inspection was carried out under the Care Standards Act 2000. 
 

 
 
 

Page 52



 
 
 

 
 

   
Inspection report for independent fostering agencies - monitoring: Foster for Bradford, Bradford Children and Families Trust 

5 
 

 

 
Independent fostering agency details 

Unique reference number: 2725774 

Registered provider: Bradford Children and Families Trust 

Registered provider address: Bradford Metropolitan District Council, Sir Henry 
Mitchell House, 4 Manchester Road, Bradford BD5 0QL 

Responsible individual: Amandip Johal 
 
Registered manager: Linzi Nicholson 

Inspector 

Tina Ruffles, Social Care Inspector 

   

Page 53



 
 
 

 
 

   
Inspection report for independent fostering agencies - monitoring: Foster for Bradford, Bradford Children and Families Trust 

6 
 

 

 
The Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills (Ofsted) regulates and inspects 

to achieve excellence in the care of children and young people, and in education and skills for 

learners of all ages. It regulates and inspects childcare and children’s social care, and inspects the 

Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service (Cafcass), schools, colleges, initial teacher 

training, further education and skills, adult and community learning, and education and training in 

prisons and other secure establishments. It assesses council children’s services, and inspects 

services for looked after children, safeguarding and child protection. 

If you would like a copy of this document in a different format, such as large print or Braille, please 

telephone 0300 123 1231, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 

You may reuse this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under 

the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit 

www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence, write to the Information Policy Team, 

The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

This publication is available at http://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/. 

Interested in our work? You can subscribe to our monthly newsletter for more information and 
updates: http://eepurl.com/iTrDn. 

Piccadilly Gate 

Store Street 
Manchester 

M1 2WD 
 

T: 0300 123 1231 
Textphone: 0161 618 8524 
E: enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 
W: www.gov.uk/ofsted 
 

© Crown copyright 2023 

 
 

 
 

Page 54

mailto:enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
http://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/
http://eepurl.com/iTrDn
mailto:enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/ofsted


 
 

 
 
Report of the Strategic Director of Children’s Services 
to the meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 
be held on 7 February 2024 

S 
 
 
Subject:   
 
Audit Findings relating to the quality of Social Work Practice  
 
Summary statement: 
 
This report provides an update regarding the quality assurance and audit process in the 
Children and Families Trust, April 2023 to November 2023. 
 
 
EQUALITY & DIVERSITY: 
 
There is no direct impact in terms of equality and diversity from this report. 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
Amandip Johal  
Assistant Director  
Bradford Children and Families Trust  
 

Portfolio:   
 
Children & Families 
 

Report Contact:  Amandip Johal  
Phone: 07773 248040 
E-mail: amandip.johal@bradfordcft.org.uk  

Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
Children’s Services  

Page 55

Agenda Item 6/

mailto:amandip.johal@bradfordcft.org.uk


2 
 

1.       SUMMARY 
 

This report provides an overview of the audit findings relating the quality of social 
work practice from April 2023 to December 2023 in the Bradford Children and 
Families Trust, focusing on the actions being taken to address practice that is 
requiring improvement or inadequate.  

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Auditing Arrangements  

 
Case file auditing continues to be an essential part of our quality assurance 
arrangements. Regular quality assurance activity is a meaningful and useful 
method for understanding the experiences of our children and young people whilst 
examining practice against agreed Practice Standards, guidance, policy, and 
procedures.  
 
Auditing generates themes and learning which are analysed to make 
recommendations for organisational practice improvement/development. Auditing is 
also used in service to identify case management issues for individual children. 
Feedback from auditing also provides information to identify learning needs and 
commission appropriate training and develop a learning culture by providing staff 
with an opportunity for in-depth reflection on their work. 
 
The audit process is underpinned by a coaching model, with audits being 
completed with practitioners to provide them with an opportunity to reflect on their 
practice and develop professional competencies to improve their work. Training and 
guidance is provided to all managers and practice supervisors involved in auditing 
so as to ensure consistency in our auditing approach. A sample of completed audits 
are moderated each month at moderation panel to ensure quality and consistency 
in the auditing process.  

 
2.2 Audit Outcomes 

Since moving into the Trust we have continued to undertake monthly audit activity 
which includes individual audits of children’s files alongside a schedule of themed 
audits and dip sampling.  The return rate for individual audits is not yet at the level 
we would expect it to be and has reduced month on month over the period. Whilst it 
is important to note that individual case work audit is not the only measure of quality 
it is a key tool to understand progress of children and young people and the impact 
our work has on their outcomes. A review of the Trust’s quality assurance 
framework is currently underway to strengthen the parameters around individual 
audit and reset the expectations and support that is provided to ensure managers 
are routinely completing monthly audit work.  

 
The quality of casework is measured by both compliance and impact of intervention 
for the child and the aim is to reach a good or outstanding standard.  
 
Continued challenges regarding the return of audits remain a focus. At the beginning 

Page 56



3 
 

of January 2024, expectations were reinforced with regards to the return of audits for 
all levels of management with this being monitored closely by the Executive Director 
of social care and practice.  
 
 
 

Outstanding  
Impact and compliance will be of 
a good standard with the child’s 
lived experience understood and 
analysed to achieve the best 
possible outcome for the child.  
 
Cases graded as outstanding 
may still have minor learning 
points identified that do not affect 
the best possible outcome being 
achieved for the child.  
  

Good  
Evidence of good practice and impact 
through case planning, direct work with 
children, professional decision making 
and case recording. 
 
Learning will be minimal in terms of 
compliance and impact to enable 
outstanding practice to develop to achieve 
best outcomes for children.  

Requires Improvement  
Recognises that work meets our 
basic safeguarding 
responsibilities.  
  

Inadequate 
Significant improvement is required to 
ensure immediate arrangements for 
children are safe. 

      

    Individual case file audit returns for the period: 

Month Audits 
Planned 

Exempted Scheduled Audits 
Returned 

% Returns 

May 2023 91 8 83 44 53.00% 

June 2023 105 2 103 42 40.80% 

July 2023 97 10 87 27 31.00% 

August 2023 79 4 75 33 44.00% 

Sept 2023 124 9 115 33 28.7% 

Oct 2023 110 9 101 27 26.7% 

Nov 2023 124 7 117 23 19.7% 

 
     
 
 
 

Page 57



4 
 

Overview of the grades for the audits completed (after moderations) 
 

Month Outstanding Good Requiring 
Improvement Inadequate Total 

Returns 
May  
2023  

0 21 21 2 44 

June  
2023 0 7 31 4 42 

July  
2023 0 2 13 12 27 

August 
2023 0 10 4 19 33 

September 
2023 1 10 12 10 33 

October 
2023 0 6 14 7 27 

November 
2023 0 5 14 4 23 

TOTAL 1 61 109 58 229 
 
Learning 

Strengths  

• No children were found to be in unsafe situations in all the audit work that has 
been completed.  

• Overall, the quality of audits continues to improve. There are identified areas for 
development but it is positive to note that the number of audits being 
downgraded is reducing in terms of quality.  

• Feedback is now part of the audit process to understand the experience of our 
children and families.  

• It is clear that there are pockets of good practice taking place across the service 
as evidenced within the audits that is making a difference to achieving better 
outcomes for our children and families.  

• The audits have highlighted that there is evidence of some good quality Social 
Work taking place in Bradford and that for some children their plan is effective in 
keeping them safe and is supporting them to achieve positive outcomes.  

 
           Areas for development: 

• Management oversight needs to be strengthened to ensure that team managers 
are driving the child’s plan and that good quality reflective supervision is provided 
to social workers and actions are tracked to evidence impact and outcomes.  

• The quality of case file management needs to improve, chronologies, case 
summaries, visit recording and demographics need to be completed in 
accordance with the Practice Standards to help care leavers to understand their 
journey.  

Page 58



5 
 

• Assessments need to reflect greater depth, analysis and including of wider family 
members views to help decision making to be child centred and effective. 

• Plans need to be completed and updated in line with Practice Standards and 
evidence SMART decision making.   

• Good quality and effective safety plans and contingency plans need to be 
recorded. 

• Direct work with children needs to be more strongly embedded to understand 
how their views and wishes are influencing the work that we are doing. 

• Life story work needs to be consistently evidenced for children in care.  
• Staff retention continues to be a significant concern which impacts on the quality 

and effectiveness of Social Work and contributes to contribute to drift and delay 
in care planning.  

 

2.3 Moderation of monthly case file audits  
As part of the monthly arrangements, moderations are completed to help 
understand thresholds of gradings to support consistency. The moderations also 
review the quality of the audits.  
 
The moderation process involves the Quality Assurance Officers re-auditing a 
child’s file and comparing the findings to the original audit grading; this can be 
subjective, so a moderation panel is held monthly which allows a ‘check and 
balance’ benchmarking sessions within the team.  
 
To ensure that there is a shared understanding across the service benchmarking 
sessions have been offered to all since the beginning of the year which all auditors 
have the opportunity to attend as it is recognised that peer group learning is an 
effective method. 

 
Audits graded as inadequate are reaudited every 3 months to ensure that actions 
have been completed and the child is receiving the right support at the right time; 
these findings are shared with HOS to track in their service areas. 
 
 

            Moderation completed in the period: 
 

Moderation Grades 
 

Good 16 
Requires Improvement 34 

Inadequate     10 
TOTAL 60 

 
 

Percentage moderated 26.2% 
Audit grade supported 29 

Audit downgraded 31 
Percentage downgraded 51.7% 

Page 59



6 
 

 
2.4 Themed Audits 
 

Monthly case file audits are supported by themed audits; these are completed by 
either the audit team or by managers / practice supervisors within the service to 
help provide a wider understanding of practice. A number of themed audits have 
been completed since the Trust went live in April 2023. 
 
Children Open with No Current Plan  
The purpose of the audit activity was to identify children with no plan, to understand 
why they had no plan to prevent drift and delay in care planning for children open to 
Bradford Children and Families Trust. The report looked at children taken from a 
sample in January. The sample was 361 children who had a completed assessment 
but no plan’ of this 100 children were selected for dip sampling (27% of the cohort). 
 
Out of 100 children in the dip sample, only 1 child did not have a Child and Family 
Assessment on the file. This shows significant improvement since the last dip 
sample of children without plans, which was undertaken in June 2020; at that point 
77 children did not have a Child and Family Assessment. This is positive progress 
which needs to be highlighted. The application of threshold at the point of step 
down to the Early Help Services was also identified as appropriate. 
 
The learning identified that there was not consistent oversight from managers 
regarding a delay in plans being completed or updated, which is essential in to 
ensure that children have SMART plans which are effective in supporting positive 
change. It was also identified that closures needed to progress in a timely way. 
  
Public Law Outline 
The audit was commissioned to understand delays for children through the Public 
Law Outline Process (PLO) and care proceedings and to identify any barriers to 
effective and timely care planning. 30 case files were reviewed.  
 
The audit positively concluded that tracker meetings are taking place, the meeting 
ensures that there is effective challenge and actions progressed, alongside making 
sure that all the relevant documents are evidenced on the child’s file. Learning 
identified that further work is needed to ensure that plans are SMART and that 
assessments impact the need to “front load” to prevent delay, minutes need to 
clear, and reviews need to evidence progress against the plan. Critically, there 
needs to be an understanding of the child’s experiences to assess impact. 
 
Children coming into care  
The purpose of the audit was to understand why children came into care, reviewing 
whether the decision made at the time was right and in the child’s best interests. 

Page 60



7 
 

The audit also considered whether the children were coming into care in a planned 
way or in an emergency, reviewing the effectiveness of the Public Law Outline 
process, contingency planning, quality of the child’s placement and their 
permanence plan.  

 
There was a total of 287 children who came into Local Authority care in the six-
month period from January 2023 to July 2023. For the purposes of this audit, 
siblings were removed, leaving 209 children. A total of 77 audits were completed, 
representing a sample size of 27.2%.  

 
This audit report has highlighted that we need to relook at how we work with our 
children, young people, and families so that they are receiving the right support at 
the right time. The report identifies that by improving practice we can make a 
difference earlier in children’s lives. This will then ensure that children are not 
experiencing lengthy and repeat periods of social care intervention.  

 
Children subject to Child in Need Plans over 12 months 
The audit looked to understand themes behind any drift and delay identified for 
children who were subject to long term Child in Need planning. 48 children were 
reviewed from 28 families. The audit identified that 71% of children were receiving 
regular visits, with 74% of children were being reviewed and 21% of children had 
their assessments updated. It was also identified that a number of children (46%) 
who had regular scrutiny through the Child in Need Clinics.  

 
The learning identified that management oversight and supervision is an area that 
needs to be strengthened by ensuring that clearer actions and timescales to be 
more effective in driving progress against the plans. Further work also needs be 
completed to ensure that we are supporting families with no recourse to public 
funds through the correct framework, linking in with the specialist council 
Immigration and Asylum Team. Whilst it was recognised that safety plans were 
being included for some children in case summaries, this needs to be achieved 
consistently to ensure that we are addressing risk appropriately.  

 
The quality of planning was an area that was identified for further development in 
terms of focusing plans to be SMART, plans to be updated to reflect the progress 
and any other options explored when actions have not been effective as expected. 
This links to making sure that the review of plans also captures who has attended 
and how the voice of the child is helping to ensure that our practice is chid centred.  

 
Children subject to repeat Child Protection Plans  
The purpose of the audit was to understand the reasons for children to have more 
than one Child Protection (CP) Plan. Over the 6-month period to 31st April 2023, 
700 children were placed on a Child Protection Plan. Of these 700 children, 169 
(24%) had previously been on a plan at some point in their lives. A total of 64 

Page 61



8 
 

children and young people were reviewed totalling 36 families. 
 

• There is a small proportion of children on repeat CP plans whose first CP plan 
lasted only 3 months. In one instance this was due to a baby being joined to a 
CP plan alongside siblings which resulted in step down at first review.  

• A significant number of repeat CP plans are underpinned by domestic abuse 
with an incident mostly arising with the same partner resulting in a second 
period of CP planning. However, there are instances of themes of domestic 
abuse taking place with a new partner. Therefore, there is evidence that plans 
are stepped down on the basis that there are no more incidents or because 
partners have separated however the underlying reasons for why domestic 
abuse happens in relationships has not been resolved. This area of learning 
has been incorporated into training and the CP coordinators are providing 
challenge in this area. 

• There is evidence of unborn babies being overlooked in planning where siblings 
are subject to a CP plan resulting in late presentation to Initial Child Protection  
Conference. This learning has used to develop the prebirth panel as well as 
support early planning for children. 

• It was positive to note that in many instances (more the norm) there was 
evidence of child in need planning being undertaken as part of step down.  

• There was evidence of a number of families whereby step down from CP had 
taken place but there was outstanding work as well sometimes missing a clear 
understanding of the narrative from the children/young people who were saying 
that ‘things are better now’. This related to the threshold for significant harm no 
longer being evident to support an ongoing CP plan but further support being 
identified that can be completed with a family as part of a Child in Need plan.  

• Where Public Law Outline (PLO) had been initiated, work needs to be 
undertaken to prevent drift.  

• There was evidence of over optimism, especially in regard to parents who had 
separated and where chronic neglect was evident.  

• Further work to be completed to ensure appropriate thresholds for CP planning 
when supervision orders have not been effective.  
 

2.5 Summary  
It is clear that there is improved work underway across the service that is meeting 
the needs of some of our children and families. The next step is to strengthen 
practice to ensure that this is consistent for all children and families across the 
district to support better outcomes and respond with the right service at the right 
time.  
 
There is no doubt that the lack of permanent social workers has had an impact. 
Some children and young people have experienced changes in social worker which 
has meant that we have not always been able to form and develop good working 
relationships; this is necessary to provide a platform for good quality direct work to 
be undertaken and ensure that children’s views are central to decision making. 
 

Page 62



9 
 

Audit activity has identified that there are common threads of learning which has 
informed our focus on doing the simple things well and a clear obsession to 
improve the key areas identified for learning. Doing the simple things well will 
enable us to create a strong foundation to make a difference to children and young 
people. This approach was launched in September with a focus on –  

 
• Children are seen 
• Safety arrangements are in place 
• Children have an up to date assessment  
• Children have a plan  
• Children’s plans are reviewed  
• Children’s voices are influencing their plans 
• Supervision is reflective and of good quality  
• Decision making and evidencing practice  

 
Alongside this we have launched Practice Obsessions which is an 18-month 
programme focusing on doing the simple things well; embedding good practice and 
ensuring that there is a shared understanding of what ‘good looks like’. The six 
obsessions have been identified from our audit findings as this practice needs to be 
strengthened if we are to provide a consistently good service to our children, young 
people, and their families. 
 
Our six obsessions are -  

• Case Recording – What is a good case recording, how to capture the voice of 
the child and their lived experience.  

• Case Summaries - What is a good case summary, how to capture key 
information, including the voice and lived experience of the child.  

• Chronologies - What to include in a chronology and why a good chronology is 
important to understand the journey of the child. Looking at history to understand 
what has happened previously and what this means for what is happening now to 
inform our plan of work. Understanding what is needed for a court chronology.  

• Voice of the Child - How to plan and complete direct work with children and 
young people, direct work tools, importance of observations and using what 
children tell us to inform their plans and what we do to make sure that they are 
safe and heard. 

• Effective working relationships with parents, carers and professionals - 
How to build good relationships with parents and carers, the importance of 
inclusive practice that is respectful and curious. Exploring relationships with 
family, close networks, and community to support children and families.   

• The importance of working relationships with our colleagues in various agencies 
to support children and families to be safe and well.  

• Assessments - Pulling the threads of the work done over the last 5 months to 
create a good assessment that is evidence based and analytical.  

 
 

Page 63



10 
 

Each obsession will be a focus for a period of a month, allowing a series of learning 
activities to take place through different forums with an aim to develop consistently 
good practice across the whole of the service.  While some of the development 
activities will be led by the Workforce and Learning Service it is essential that 
practice learning is driven by managers, peer reflection and a range of different 
methods of learning. 

 
Work is underway to ensure that there is connectivity between the strands of the 
improvement plan and the relevant audit activity to allow reflection and 
improvement. This will help understand how the learning from audits is being 
considered whilst determining the impact of training / development to effectively 
“close the loop”.  
 
This will be further supported by the training that is being offered by Leeds 
Relational Practice Centre, particularly in relation to the Management Oversight and 
Reflective Supervision as we know and understand that having managers who feel 
confident to support and challenge will be pivotal to help drive forward practice 
change. In addition, we are embarking on a recruitment drive to permanently secure 
practice supervisors in role to help strengthen practice and identify areas of 
development through reflective discussions and dip sampling.  

 
2.6 Next Steps 

Continue to review and strengthen the auditing process to enable improved 
engagement to increase the number of audits returned but also to reflect on how 
learning is shared and cascaded so that the wider workforce is able to understand 
what is happening and why this is important for learning and development. This 
includes reviewing the audit report format through a restorative approach to support 
high support and high challenge. 
 
Strengthen and widen the moderation process to include newly appointed Assistant 
Directors in the Trust.  
 
Develop learning circles and the quality assurance activity outside of the monthly 
auditing arrangements to strengthen and drive engagement. 

 
3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
3.1 None. 
 
4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL 
 
4.1 None. 
 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
5.1 None. 

Page 64



11 
 

 
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL 
 
6.1 Effective quality assurance and audit processes support the Trust to comply with its 

statutory duties, including under the Children Act 1989, regarding the protection and 
welfare of children and young people.   

 
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7.2 TACKLING THE CLIMATE EMERGENCY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7.3 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7.4 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7.5 TRADE UNION 

 
 Not applicable. 
 
7.6 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7.7 IMPLICATIONS FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
 
 Improving practice will improve service delivery for all children and young people.  
  
7.8 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS 
 
8.1 Not applicable. 
 
9. OPTIONS 
 
9.1 Not applicable. 
 
 

Page 65



12 
 

10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 That next steps are endorsed to continue to support practice improvement.  
 
11. APPENDICES 
 
11.1 None. 
 
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
12.1 None.  
 

Page 66



 
 

Report of the Chair of the Children’s Services Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee to be held on Wednesday 7 
February 2024 

T 
 
 
Subject:   
 
Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Work Programme 2023/24 
 
 
 
Summary statement: 
 
This report includes the Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
work programme for 2023/24.   
 
 
EQUALITY & DIVERSITY 
 
Community Cohesion and Equalities related issues are part of the work remit for 
this Committee. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
Cllr Debbie Davies 
Chair – Children’s Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

Portfolio:   
 
Children and Families 
 
 

Report Contact:  Mustansir Butt 
Overview and Scrutiny Lead 
Phone: (01274) 432574 
E-mail: mustansir.butt@bradford.gov.uk 

Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
Children’s Services 

Page 67

Agenda Item 7/



1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report includes the Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

work programme for 2023/24, which is attached as appendix 1 to this report.  
 
1.2 Also attached as appendix 2 to this report is a list of unscheduled topics for 

2023/24. 
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Council constitution requires all Overview and Scrutiny Committees to produce 

a work programme. 
 
3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
3.1 The Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee has the responsibility for 

“the strategies, plans, policies, functions and services directly relevant to the 
corporate priority about services to children and young people.” (Council 
Constitution, Part 2, 6.3.1). 
 

3.2 Best practice published by the Centre for Public Scrutiny suggests that “work 
programming should be a continuous process”.  It is important to review work 
programmes, so that important or urgent issues that arise during the year are able 
to be scrutinised.  Furthermore, at a time of limited resources, it should also be 
possible to remove areas of work which have become less relevant or timely.  For 
this reason, it is proposed that the Committee’s work programme be regularly 
reviewed by members of the committee throughout the municipal year.  
 

3.3 The work programme as agreed by the Committee will form the basis for the 
Committee’s work during the year, but will be amended as issues arise during the 
year. 

 
3.4 At its meeting on Tuesday 15 March 2022, the Executive, during their discussions 

relating to supporting children and their families to thrive post pandemic, 
recommended that the Children’s Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
undertake a scrutiny review into Child Poverty across the District.  The Committee 
is currently undertaking this Scrutiny Review. 
 

3.5 The Children’s Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting on 
Wednesday 1 February 2023, agreed to undertake a Scrutiny Review into 
persistent absence across schools in the Bradford District. 

 
4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL 
 
4.1 None. 
 
 
 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
5.1 None.  

Page 68



 
 
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL 
 
6.1       None.   
 
 
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 None. 
 
7.2 TACKLING THE CLIMATE EMERGENCY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 None. 
 
7.3 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 

None. 
 
7.4 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 
 
 None. 
 
7.5 TRADE UNION 
 
 None. 
 
7.6 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 

Work of this Overview and Scrutiny Committee has ward implications, but this 
depends on that nature of the topic. 

 
 
7.7 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING 
 
 This will be a key area of work for the Committee. 
 
7.8 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT 
 
 None. 
 
8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS 
 

None. 
 
 
9. OPTIONS 
 
9.1 The Committee may choose to add to or amend the topics included in the 2023-24 

Page 69



work programme for the committee. 
 
9.2 Members may wish to consider any detailed scrutiny reviews that it may wish to 

conduct. 
 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 That members consider and comment on the areas of work included in the work 

programme. 
 
10.2 That members consider any detailed scrutiny reviews that they may wish to 

conduct. 
 
 
11. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix One – 2023-24 Work Programme for the Children’s Services Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Appendix Two – Unscheduled Topics. 

 
 
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
 Council Constitution. 
 2022-23 Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme. 
 
 

Page 70



 Democratic Services - Overview and Scrutiny 
 Childrens Services O&S Committee 
 Scrutiny Lead: Mustansir Butt tel - 43 2574 

 Work Programme 
 Agenda Items Description Report Author Comments 
 Wednesday, 12th July 2023 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 22/06/23. Report deadline 29/06/23. 
 1) Appointment of Co-opted members. Voting Co-opted Members - Joyce  Mustansir Butt. 
 Simpson, (Church Representative),  
 Parenet Governor Represntative Fauzai  
 Raza & Shifa Simab.                Non  
 Voting C-opted Members - Teacher  
 Secondary School Representative Tom  
 Bright,                 Children's Social Care -  
 Dr Samina Karim. 

 2) Draft Childrens 2023-24 Children's Services  The proposed areas of work to be  Mustansir Butt. 
 Overview & Scrutiny Work Programme. considered in this muncipal year. 

 Wednesday, 27th September 2023 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 06/09/23. Report deadline 14/09/23. 
 1) Monitoring the Children's Services  Report to also include performance data. Marium Haque/Picklu  Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny  
 Improvement Plan. Roychoudhary/Charlotte  Committee recommendation from  
 Ramsden. Wednesday 1 March 2023. 

 2) Work Programme. There is s a need to regularly review the  Mustansir Butt. 
 work programme, in order to prirotise and 
  manage the work. 

 Wednesday, 4th October 2023 at Remote Virtual Meeting. 
 1) Child Poverty Scrutiny Review. Remote informal information gathering  Mustansir Butt. Council resolution. 
 session with the volumtary sector and  
 and Bradford Council Officers. 

 Wednesday, 18th October 2023 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 27/09/23. Report deadline 05/10/23. 
 1) Bradford District Children and Young People  The Plan be presented to the Committee  Niall Devlin/Jenny  Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny  
 Plan. prior to it being finalised. To also include  Cryer/Kate Welsh/Helen  Committee recommendation from  
 details of priorities and outcomes. Johnston. Wednedsay 15 March 2023. 

 25th January 2024 Page 1 of 4 

P
age 71



 Childrens Services O&S Committee 
 Scrutiny Lead: Mustansir Butt tel - 43 2574 

 Work Programme 
 Agenda Items Description Report Author Comments 
 Wednesday, 18th October 2023 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 27/09/23. Report deadline 05/10/23. 
 2) Work Programme. There is s a need to regularly review the  Mustansir Butt. 
 work programme, in order to prirotise and 
  manage the work. 

 Monday, 20th November 2023 at Unknown. 
 1) Child Poverty Scrutiny Review. Informal information gathering session  Mustansir Butt. 
 with young people. 

 Wednesday, 22nd November 2023 at Unknown. 
 1) Child Poverty Scrutiny Review Informal information gathering session  Mustansir Butt. 
 with young children and their familes. 

 Wednesday, 29th November 2023 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 08/11/23. Report deadline 16/11/23. 
 1) National Review  Action Plan. Progress against the review  Darren  Childlren's Services Overview & Scrutiny  
 recommendations, together with  Minton/Marium   
 examples of some positive  Haque/Michelle  Committee recommendation from  
 outcomes. Turner/Ruth Terry/Richard  Wednesday 30 June 2022. Been  
  deferred on two occassions at the  
 Padwell/Charlotte Ramsden request of Officers. 

 2) Health Services to looked after Children and  The Annual Report to also include:      Phillipa Hubbard/Cath  Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny  
 care leavers. Details of the progress against the Action Murray/James Drury/Juliet  Committee recommendtaion from  
  Plan;                                 Outcomes of  Kitchen/Karen Dawber. Wednesday 14 
December 2022. 
 the Children's Health Assessments being  
 undertaken;        Percentage of Children's 
  Health Assessments being done within  
 Statutory guidelines. 

 3) Sufficency Strategy, to also include in-house  Progress against the strategy and the  Marium Haque/Charlottle  Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny  
 Fostering Service and Adoptions. recommendations contained within it. Ramsden/Picklu  Committee recommendation from  
 Roychoudhary. Wednesday 15 March 2023. 

 25th January 2024 Page 2 of 4 

P
age 72



 Childrens Services O&S Committee 
 Scrutiny Lead: Mustansir Butt tel - 43 2574 

 Work Programme 
 Agenda Items Description Report Author Comments 
 Wednesday, 29th November 2023 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 08/11/23. Report deadline 16/11/23. 
 4) Supporting Families Programme. Charlotte Ramsden/Cath  Member Request. 
 Dew/Andrew Edwards. 
 5) Young Carers. To also include measures of  Charlotte Ramsden/Cath  Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny  
 performance and details of outcomes  Dew. Committee recommendation from  
 and improvements delivered. Wednesday 23 March 2022. 

 6) Work Programme. There is s a need to regularly review the  Mustansir Butt. 
 work programme, in order to prirotise and 
  manage the work. 

 Wednesday, 20th December 2023 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 30/11/23. Report deadline 07/12/23. 
 1) Raising Attainment Strategy. Demonstate key outcomes. Marium Haque/Sue  Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny  
 Lowndes. Committee recommendation from  
 Wednesday 1 February 2023. 

 2) Holiday Activity and Food  Programme. Sharon Sanders. Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny  
 Committee recommendation from  
 Wednesday 27 September 2023. 

 3) Home School Transport. Michelle Pickles. Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny  
 Committee recommendation from  
 Wednesday 27 September 2023. 

 Wednesday, 24th January 2024 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 04/01/24. Report deadline 11/01/24. 
 1) SEND Services. This Committee requests that a further  Marium Haque/Niall Devlin. Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny  
 progress report be presented in 12  Committee recommendations from  
 months, which also includes the deatiled  Wednesday 18 January 2023. 
 Action Plan, RAG rating and the full  
 Written Statement of Action. 

 2) Draft Scrutiny Review Report - Elective Home  Key findings and recommendations ftom  Mustansir Butt. 
 Education. the scrutiny review. 
 3) Work Programme. There is s a need to regularly review the  Mustansir Butt. 
 work programme, in order to prirotise and 
  manage the work. 

 25th January 2024 Page 3 of 4 

P
age 73



 Childrens Services O&S Committee 
 Scrutiny Lead: Mustansir Butt tel - 43 2574 

 Work Programme 
 Agenda Items Description Report Author Comments 

 Wednesday, 7th February 2024 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 17/01/24. Report deadline 25/01/24. 
 1) Monitoring the Children's Services  To also include the Ofsted Monitoring  Marium Haque/Charlotte  
 Improvement Plan. Visit. Ramsden. 
 2) Audit findings relating to the quality of Social  Charlotte  Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny  
 Work Practice. Ramsden/Amandip Johal. Committee recommendation from  
 Wednesday 18 January 2023. 

 3) Work Programme. There is s a need to regularly review the  Mustansir Butt. 
 work programme, in order to prirotise and 
  manage the work. 

 Wednesday, 13th March 2024 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 21/02/24. Report deadline 29/02/24. 
 1) Mental Health issues relating to Children's  Report to focus on the Written Statement Ali Jan Haider/David  Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny  
 Social Care.  of Action and the Action Plan to support  Sims/Christina  Committee from Wednesday 15  
 the delivery of this and outcomes  Hollaway/Kristain Farnell. February 2023. 
 delivered.                     Findings and  
 recommendations from the Deep Dive  
 Review, to also be included. 

 2) Findings from the review into children’s health  Michelle Holgate/Dawn  Deferred from Children's Services  
 assessment caseloads. Lee. Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 meeting on Wednesday 15 February  
 2023. 

 3) Educational Standards - Early Years to Key  To scope the report with the Chair,  Marium Haque/Sue  Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny  
 Stage 4. Deputy Chair and Overview & Scrutiny  Lowndes. Committee recommendation from  
 Lead. Wednesday 15 February 2024. 

 4) Work Programme, There is s a need to regularly review the  
 work programme, in order to prirotise and 
  manage the work. 

 25th January 2024 Page 4 of 4 

P
age 74



Democratic Services - Overview and Scrutiny

Scrutiny Committees Forward Plan
Unscheduled Items

Childrens Services O&S Committee

Agenda item Author CommentsItem description

Child Poverty Scrutiny Review. Mustansir Butt. Council resolution from Tuesday 15 March 
2022.

1

Scrutiny Review into persistent 
absence across schools in the 
Bradford District.

Mustansir Butt. Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee recommendation from 
Wednesday 1 February 2023.

2

Exploitation Annual Report. Darren 
Minton/Charlotte 
Ramsden/Marium 
Haque.

Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee recommendation from 
Wednesday 15 February 2023.  Was due to 
be considered on Wednesday 24 January 
2024, but was deferred at the request from 
officers in the Bradford Safeguarding 
Board.Also, further recommendation from 
Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee on Wednesday 24 January 2024.

To include detailed information of progress being made.3

Outdoor Education Centres. Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee recommendation from 
Wednesday 24 January 2024.

4

Sufficiency of sixth day 
provision.

Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee recommendation from 
Wednesday 24 January 2024.

5

Annual Report on permanent 
exclusions and suspensions.

Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee recommendation from 
Wednesday 24 January 2024.

6

Page 1 of 1

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 BRADFORD CHILDREN'S SERVICES IMPROVEMENT PLAN
	Doc R - App 1
	Doc R - App 2
	Doc R - App 3
	Doc R - App 4

	6 AUDIT FINDINGS RELATING TO THE QUALITY OF SOCIAL WORK PRACTICE
	7 CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - WORK PROGRAMME 2023/24
	Doc T - Appendix 1 - Work Programme
	Doc T - Appendix 2 - Unscheduled Topics




